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Strategic report

The Directors present the Strategic report of Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig for the year ended 31 March 2024.

Principal activities '
The principal activities of the Company are the supply of water and the treatment and disposal of wastewater under
the Instrument of Appointment made by the Secretary of State for Wales under the Water Act 1989. -

Business review

Performance in FY24

Our financial performance in the year reflected the tailwinds of recent challenging economic conditions, with high inflation at
" the beginning of the financial year driving higher interest charges and operational expense pressures and declines in real wages

placing pressure on the ability of our customers to afford their day-to-day living costs. We do not shy away from recognising

that our operational performance has fallen short of both our, and our customers’ and stakeholders’, expectations in recent

years. In response, we have raised the level of support we provide to vulnerable customers, incréased investment in support of

key operational measures such as leakage and asset resilience and implemented clearly defined and targeted plans to improve

operational efficiency. Overall, our profit before interest and tax this year improved by £53 million to £46 million. Our operating:

cash flow of £379 million was utilised to invest in our capital assets (£380 million), an increase of £75 million from last year.

Last year we witnessed significant inflationary pressures and a gradual but sustained increase in mterest rates from hlstonc
lows, a response from the Bank of England to ease |anat|onary forces. Whilst we have witnessed some feduction in inflation
rates, our debt accretion charges on index-linked bonds remain impacted throughout the year, placing pressure on our net
financing cost, Consequently, our net debt on a CTA basis has aiso increased by £325 million. The impact of a rise in BoE base
rates has been mitigated by 94% of our debt being either fixed or hedged in real or nominal terms, reducing our exposure.
However, the fact that the Regulatory Capital Value (RCV) is itself linked to the rate of inflation provides an element of longer-
term protection that is not reflected in the income statement, offsetting the impact of inflation on the value of index linked
debt to maintain gearing at levels around 60%, with gearing at 60% this year. This is one of the lowest in the sector and underpins
our strong balance sheet with total available liquidity of £467 million and financial reserves of £1,491 million.

Financial resilience and outlook .

Throughout this economically challenging tlme, we have retained our credit ratlngs atA3, A- and A from Moody s, S&P and Fitch
respectlvely These ratings continue to be among the best in the UK utility sector. We monitor our financial performance using
measures which focus on the covenants included in our whole business securitisation documentation and on the measures
required to preserve our credit ratings. Gearing remains low and well within covenant and credit rating thresholds. The
continued pressure on our adjusted ICR is principally caused by inflation placing pressure on operating and financing costs.
While we recognise this ratio will remain under pressure for the remainder of AMP7, recovery is anticipated early in AMP8.

. 2024 Price Review : v

In October 2023 we submitted our most ambitious business plan ever to Ofwat, the |ndustry‘s economic regulator. We are

aiming to spend some £4 billion on our infrastructure in AMP8 (2025-2030) — 93% more than we expect in AMP7. This includes
- £2.5 billion to protect the natural environment. We recognise our world is changing and we must change with it. We have big
ambitions to improve outcomes for the environment and the quality of services delivered to customers, minimising service
failures. To achieve this, we must also adapt to meet the challenges posed by the trends that are working against us, notably
climate change. Ofwat will publlsh its draft determination of the AMP8 price control on 11 July 2024, and its final determination
in December 2024 which will come into effect on 1 April 2025.

Ofwat Invest:gatlon

On 28 May 2024, Ofwat published its final decision following its |nvest|gat|on into Welsh Water’s self-declared Ieakage and per
"capita consumption misreporting in 2020/21 and 2021/22. Ofwat imposed a nominal fine of £1 together with required

undertakings to make customer. redress of £40 million which the Group had made of its own volition during 2023 and a

commitment to additional expenditure of £59 million on leakage and Per Capita Consumption (PCC) activities during the two

years to 31 March 2025. These are materially unchanged from what the Group had proposed to Ofwat in 2023, as reported in’

the FY 23 annugl report and accounts.

Financing Needs
Over the next few years, we will be looking to reflnance some £2 billion of existing debt and ralse a further £1 billion of new
debt. We expect to issue instruments across a broad range of maturities reflecting the long-term nature of our business,
primarily in the sterling bond market where historically there has been strong appetlte for our debt. However ‘we will also
explore alternative sources of finance.

’
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Revenue

Our revénues mainly come from the water and wastewater services we provide to customers. Our prices are set every five years
by Ofwat’s price review. process and this, to a large extent, determines how much we can invest in our services and
infrastructure.

Reventjes in FY 24 were 10% higher than in FY 23, mainly due to price rises, which were in line with Ofwat’s allowance but
notably below headline inflation in the period. :

We are acutely aware of the pressures the current cost-of-living crisis, driven by inflation, are having on our customers. We
continue to expand our range of assistance tariffs to support. customers through this period, with 130,000 customers now
getting help to pay thelr bills, £14 million being contributed through our return of value not-for-shareholder structure during
the year.

Operating profit (including IRE)

Our operating profit (including IRE (Infrastructure renewals expendlture) but excluding depreuatlon amortlsatlon and
exceptional costs) for the year increased by £62 million to £432 million. The most significant movements, excluding revenue
noted above, related to;

Cost pressures impacted -our core operating cost base by £21 million (6%) year-on-year primarily driven by continued
inflationary pressures. Gross employee costs increased due to the annual pay award of 6.2%, market rates rises and increased
volume of outsourced contractor work on items 'such as new connections and leakage (53%).

Provisions for expected credit losses on outstanding customer debts have increased by £4 million (14%) to £28 million
representing 3.0% of core revenue. The year ori year increase principally reflects inflationary price increases to customer bills.
We have 75% of household customers on direct debits, and with the help of proactive engagement and tailored assistance,
customers who are struggling remain paying whilst being placed on payment plans.

Cost reductions improved our core operating cost base by £3 million with costs from climate change incidents mitigated through
investment and maintenance, and the reduction of debt collection commissions reflecting our strategic change to manage debt
collection in-house.

Operational decisions increased costs by £5 million, with our workforce, on average, bolstered by 236 FTEs and additional
. maintenance costs across the operations to protect the environment.

Energy costs have remained stable with our exposure mitigated through our power hedging policy and our self-generation
capability. We typically hedge the majority of our electricity costs, saving us around 20% in the year. We continue to benefit
from our forward purchase of around 60% of our gas requirement to March 2025. We continue to invest to increase our capacity
to generate our own energy, an essential business venture to meeting our green targets, with around 25% of our total
consumption produced internally. We aim to increase this to 35% by 2030. We are currently reviewing our purchasing strategy
for the next price review period to 2030. .

Net Finance Costs ‘

We use a range of financial instruments to help finance our operations which are primarily contracted through Dwr Cymru
{Financing) UK plc, a fellow group company, and subsequently on-lent to Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig. These include fixed-rate and
index-linked bonds as well as fixed, variable and index-linked loans and finance leases. All of our index-linked debt is linked to -
RPI inflation, which remained historically high during FY 24, reducing from 13.5% in March 2023 to 4.7% in March 2024, an
average of 7.6%. £127 million has been accrued on the balance sheet and will be paid when the associated debt matures, £65
million lower than last year. ’ '

We manage our interest rate exposure using derivative financial instruments. We have swapped some of our floating-rate debt
to fixed-rate debt and some of our fixed rate debt to index-linked rates using ‘swaps.’ After taking into account the effect of
these swaps, 82% of our debt is index-linked, with the remainder at a floating (6%) or fixed rate (12%).

Net finance expen-se was £93 million Iower) than last year mainly due to £126 million lower delayed debt accretion charges as a
result of reducing inflation rates, offset by the rise in the Bank of England’s (‘BoE’ ) base rate impacting our 6% of floatlng rate
debt.

The total net finance expense of £211 million in the income statement is higher than the £196 million net cash.interest paid and
settlement of derivative financial instruments per the statement of cash flows. The difference is largely due to £127 million
noncash indexation charges, offset by £19 million of capitalised borrowing costs, £40 million derivative settlements received
after 31 March 2024 and £28 million reduction in interest accruals. .

The fair value gains recognised during the year relate to the movement in interest rate swaps reflecting increases in long-term
interest rates and reductions in Retail Price Index {‘RPI’) expectations, while power swap values are lower than last year with
forecast reduction in power costs and.completion of swap contracts. During FY 24 the movement in the value of swaps was a
non-cash loss of £7 million (FY 23: gain of £160 million). See Note 4 for further information. Fair values fluctuate in line with
market movements, which can be volatile, and this can give rise to significant gains and losses in the income statement.
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' Strategic report (continued)

L/quldlty

At 31 March 2024, total liquidity stood at £467 million (2023: £564 million) and we held unrestricted cash and equwalents of
£147 million-(2023: £364 million). We have bilateral revolving credit facilities of £400 million available to us with a group of
four key relationship banks (for further details, see Note 16). During the year, these facilities were renewed, increasing their
capacity from £200 million last year to £400 million, of which £80 million was utilised, cpmbined with a new loan of £150 million,
for the termination of finance lease arrangements of £202 million and to support ongoing operations, part of our Treasury
Strategy to utilise cheaper alternative cost of debt options and ensure financial responsibility.

We invest cash prudently, depositing for a maximum of three' months, and only with highly-rated banks, withing limits
established in the Board-approved Treasury policy. We achieved an average deposit yield of 4.98% during the year which
compares favourably with the BlackRock ICS Sterling Liquidity Fund yield of 4.87%. .

Financial Resilience

Under the terms of our whole business securitisation structure, we must maintain gearing below 85%. We therefore have

significant headroom to deal with emerging risks. We remain well within our covenanted financial ratios, notably the ratio of

net debt to the Regulatory Capital Value (RCV), a measure of the company’s indebtedness relative to the value of the business

recognised by Ofwat, and the senior interest cover ratio pre and post capital maintenance, a measure of pre and post capital
- maintenance cash flows over interest in a given period.

We have retained our ratings this financial year, {(Moody’s A3; S&P A-, and Fitch A), with these being among the highest in the
UK utilities sector. High credit ratings promote investor confidence and allow us to access efficiently priced debt to fund our
investment programme whilst keeping bills affordable for our customers.

. \
tn February 2024 Moody’s updated credit analysis confirmed the Class B debt at A3 and the Class C at Baa2, both with a stable
outlook. In March 2024 Fitch affirmed the Class B debt at A and Class C at BBB+, both with a stable outlook. The latest S&P
rating was completed in November 2022, confirming our Class B debt rating at A- and our Class C subordinated debt at BB8,
but revised the outlook from stable to negative. The Class A bonds, which are subject to a financial guarantee from Assured
Guaranty UK Ltd, are unaffected by this action.

Dividends

No dividends were paid during the year (FY 23: none). No intra-group dividends have been declared and surpluses in the
regulated business have been retained for the benefit of our customers.

Taxation

No corporation tax will be payable for FY 24. As in previous years, taxable profits are more than offset by capital allowances
on our investment programme.

Loss before tax:

The Loss before tax was £238 mllllon a reduction of £144 million on last year (2023: £382 million), as a result of the factors
outlined above

Cash flow:

Net cash generated from operating activities for the year ended 31 March 2024 totalled £377 million, the same amount
generated in the previous year.

The net cash outflow from investing activities for the year ended 31 March 2024 was £358 million, which increased from £291
million in the previous year. This was principally caused by a higher level of investment in our capital programme.

Net cash flows before financing activities totalled £20 million, compared with £87 million last year.

Future developments

Capital investment .

We have invested £480 million (mcludlng IRE) in FY 24. The followung examples illustrate the breadth of improvements mcluded
in this year’'s programme. .

We are currently progressing well on the single largest scheme of AMP 7, 2020-25, with the upgrading of valves and the spillway
capacity at Llyn Celyn impounding reservoir in central north Wales. The £45 million investment in the reservoir will upgrade its
storm reliance with enhanced draw off and scour capacity through a new valving arrangement and the addition of a new spillway
to the dam structure. Llyn Celyn regulates the flow of water into the River Dee and this scheme will not only improve the asset’s
resilience but also enable NRW to maximise and more effectively control releases mto the River Dee. We understand this is the
biggest reservair spillway currently under construction in Europe .

Page 4 Dvwr Cymru Cyfyngedig
Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024



Strategic report"(contihued)

We have continued our significant investment in the water programme ahgned to improving performance on leakage, customer
acceptability of water, and water quality. We have a dedicated team investing £10 million on upstream losses on our water
trunk main system fixing large complex leaks, and installing meters, and insertion points on the network to enable us to use
innovative in-pipe leak detection techniques. We are also.investing an addmonal £59 million between 2023 and 2025 on leak
detection and repair on the wider water distribution network.

We are investing a further £10 million on a programme of works to clean and refurbish service reservoirs across our operating
area. The programme has advanced throughout the year improving the condition of assets and reducing the risk of raihnwater
ingress into the tanks and refurbishing them to increase their operational life where required. We have invested £30 million to
reduce the risk of iron and manganese in the water system causing customer complaints. Qur Modelling of hydraulic, water
quality and customer data has enabled us to highlight those areas of the water network that need to be replaced or cleaned.
This programme of works is underway.in urban and rural areas of Monmouth, Cardiff, Llyiwen near Brecon, Rassau, Ebbw Vale
and is about to move into the Vale of Glamorgan, Barry and Newport West.

Our Wye River phosphorous-related improvement projects at Eign, Rotherwas in Hereford, and at Leominster, went operational -
and achieved their Outcome Delivery Incentive commitment dates by March 2024. Following this intensive 18-month

construction programme, the successful completion of these, our largest AMP7 Wastewater projects, is a significant '
achievement having delivered 142 km of river improvements. In addition to these large works, we have already completed
projects at Norton, Presteigne, Weobley, Kingstone & Madeley, Clehonger and Peterchurch on the upper Wye. Schemes to
reduce Phosphate at Clyro, Monmouth and Lower Cleeve have all started construction in the period. All the Wye River project
commitments made as part of our Manifesto for Rivers in Wales will be delivered on time, totalling a £57 million investment.

Construction works have started in New Inn, near Pontypool, on an innovative Nature-Based Solution (NBS) that treats
discharges from a SO before releasing it to the Afon Lwyd. The NBS will achieve a ‘No Impact’ outcome and the solution consists
of storm discharges first passing through a new mechanical screen after which flows gravitate first through a series of aerated
* reed beds and then through cpnstrutfted wetlands to provide natural treatment before releasing to the river. The £13 million
.investment will deliver a wetland habitat for aquatic life, enhanced biodiversity, new woodland areas and improved public

amenity through footpaths and natural play spaces. Work is due to complete in 2024. This scheme is intended to be a forerunner

of similar larger scale N8S which we will deliver in AMP8.
-~

Looking ahead

Our focus in 2024 and 2025 will be primarily on performance recovery, where we fall short on some of our key regulatory
measures. We would reiterate our significant disappointment at being classified as a lagging company by Ofwat and we are
expending every effort to return to'the levels of service and performance we have previously achieved. ‘We know where we
are off the pace, and have put in place plans and resources to make the necessary improvements. For our drinking water
activities we are targeting improvements as follows: .

e  Water Quality — increased process control at our treatment works, our extensive treated water storage tank
refurbishment programme, targeted mains replacement and improved network maintenance activities. .

s Supply Interruptions — a challenging measure for us due to the high operating pressures, rurality and asset condition in
our western area touched on above. However, we are implementing increased reactive maintenance resources in the
most at-risk areas supported by faster deployment of alternative supplies, such as locally based water tankers and
dedicated repair teams. . .

¢ Leakage - substaritially increased ‘find and fix’ resources, improved network remote monitoring to better target repairs,
our Cartref scheme to help fix customer supply pipe leaks, intelligent network pressure management and mains
replacement. ' ’ .

e  Per Capita Consumption - year-round customer engagement and communication campaigns, our education programme
.covering almost 90,000 school-aged pupilsin FY 24, private leak repairs, and trials including smart meters and water butts.

In our wastewater business we are focusing |mprovements as follows:

e Waste Water Treatment Works Compliance — improved levels of planned malntenance to reduce equipment failure,
additional portable treatment equipment to be deployed at the earliest detection of treatment deterioration, increased

- process control optimisation/ monitoring with fast escalation of potential failures, |mproved blOSO|IdS (sludge) handling

to reduce treatment risk, and targeted capital investment.

¢  Pollution Incidents — on our sewerage network, increased remote monitors on high-risk sewers.and at pumplng stations,
customer behavioural campaign ‘stop the block’ to prevent disposal of wet wipes, fat, oil and grease to sewers, targeted
sewer cleansing, mcreased maintenance of pumped sewers and targeted capital investment.
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Strategic report (continued)

Across the key performance improvement areas outlined above we are also
*  applying innovative solutions and new technology, particularly in additional remote SMART monltormg to enable faster
and better interventions;
e making full use of our data science capability, such as machine learning techniques, predictive analytics and improved
management information to help get ahead of potential problems before they impai:t service or the environment; and
«  working with over 70 external organisations from leading global expert consultancies, academia and technology
business, to develop our innovation strategy focused primarily on our most challenging performance measures.

Climate change

Part of our ongoing 2050 strategy is to become a world-class, resilient, and sustainable water service for future generations.
Tackling climate-related challenges is crucial to our success. The information provided in this disclosure, and provided in more
-detail in the Glas Cymru Holdings Cyfyngedig annual report and accounts (GCHC ARA), demonstrates the embedding of climate-
related considerations into our governance, strategy and risk management processes, and how we monitor progress with
appropriate metrics. .

Our strategy for managing climate-related risks is being continually refined to align with our goal of achieving energy neutrality
by 2050. Our progress in fulfilling our commitments from last year is illustrated in our 2024 GCHC ARA page 30.

We acknowledge the significant challenges posed by climate change and are committed to addressing them by adhering to the
recommendations of the TCFD in the GCHC ARA. This will provide transparency to our stakeholders and is in line with our
dedication to resilience and sustainability.

This was the third annual disclosure of our climate change risks, providing an update on our prewous TCFD report published in
the 2023 GCHC ARA:

The natural environment within which the Company operates is constantly changing, and this influences how its water and
wastewater services are to be delivered inthe future. The Company has embedded ambitious climate-related targe'ts within its
strategic goals, affecting the portfolio of assets required in its operations to deliver such services. We have conducted a review,
in line with our TCFD disclosures in the GCHC ARA, for potential impacts of climate change and environmental legislation or the
Company’s decarbonisation measures predominantly in respect of the valuation of the property, plant and equipment held by
the Company and provisions or contingent liabilities. No amendments were considered necessary in the financial statements
this year with further analysis to be conducted throughout the new financial year. We will review the impact of climate change
on the financial statements annually upon further information becoming available.

The Company will continuously look to further enhance the accuracy of its useful life assessment through the introduction of
more forward-looking information in asset life reviews. The Company will continue to mitigate the exposure that the carrying
value of its book asset base has to climate-related risks through strategic planning activities that incorporate defined climate
scenarios, climate change mitigation pledges, and long-term climate projections. The Comipany installs permanent flood
-defences and other resilience measures at the most vulnerable facilities to protect its assets.

Interest rate management
Our primary financing objective is to secure the right amount of funding at the lowest cost. The more efficient our funding, the -
lower our customers’ bills. We aim to.have sector-leading credit ratings’and gearing at around 60%, as weII as considering the
" timing of financing activity.

Just over half of our debt, on a pre-hedged position, is index-linked to RPI inflatiqn (31 March 2023: 54%, 31 March 2022: 51%)
and this provides a natural hedge to our asset base (as measured by Ofwat’s regulatory capital value) and our inflation-linked
revenues. Including the impact of inflation, our average cost of debt for the year was 7.7% (2023: 7.7%). '

Taxation

We aim for compllance and transparency in our tax affairs and hold the Fair Tax Mark accreditation. As an organisation with a
large capital investment programme, we receive capital allowances. These have the effect of deferring some of our corporation
tax liabilities to future periods and help-to keep customers’ bills lower.

Full details of our corporation tax and deferred tax charges are provuded in note 5 and our full tax strategy is available at Tax
strategy.

Group tax strategy: :

The tax strategy is managed at a group level by the Glas Cymru Holdings Cyfyngedig (GCHC). The Group is committed to acting
in an open and transparent way in respect of its tax affairs. We pay a range of taxes, including business rates, employer’s
National Insurance and environmental taxes. We do not enter into artificial tax arrangements, use tax havens or take an
aggressive stance in the interpretation of tax legislation. Full details of our tax strategy are published annually on our website
at dwrcymru.com/tax strategy. The Group has complied with the Tax Strategy for the year ended 31 March 2024.
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Strategic report (continued)

Fair tax mark accreditation:

The Fair Tax Mark is an independent certrf|cat|on which recognlses organisations that demonstrate they are paying the right
amount of corporation tax at the right time and in the right place. More than 75 businesses have now been certified since the
accreditation was launched in 2014. We aim for clarity and transparency in our tax strategy and are pleased to have been the
first Welsh company to have secured the Fair Tax Mark- accredltanon :

Capital Investment )
‘Welsh Water has a long-term strategy — Welsh Water 2050, first published in 2018. It outlines the key challenges and
opportunities for the business over the long-term, and how we plan to respond to'them to ensure we continue to provide a
resilient and sustainable service. The strategy undergoes a full review and update every flve years, with the first review having
taken place in 2022. :

Alongside Welsh Water 2050 (WW2050) we launched our Wellbemg Commltments in 2020 {These were the Welsh equwalent
to the Public Interest Commitments published by water companies in England in 2019.) They are aligned to the seven Wellbeing
Goals identified in the WeIIbelng of Future Generations (Wales) Act.

~

Our Environmental Social and Governance (ESG) Strategy was reviewed and approved by the Board’s ESG Committee in
February 2022 (and is available to view at dwrcymru.com/esg). It includes 10 key objectives to support the focus on ESG issues
in the context of Welsh Water 2050.

The Long-Term Delivery Strategy (LTDS) was developed alongside the PR24 Business Plan, meeting a requirement of Ofwat’s
PR24 methodology it is focused.on the enhancement investment required to meet agreed long-term outcomes to 2050 under
a range of scenarios.

AMP7 Business Plan (2020-2025): After consulting our customers we. agreed with Ofwat (under the PR19 process) a S-year
programme for 2020-25 involving more than £2.0 billion in capital investment. It includes real-terms bill reductions, efficiency
improvements, and a total of 56 performance and investment delivery targets for each year of the period

The PR24 Business Plan for the next frve -year period 2025~2030-(AMP8), was submltted in October 2023 for scrutmy and
. challenge by Ofwat. It is aligned with our long-term goals under WW2050.

0ur annual internal business plans set targets which are stretching but deliverable taking into account the previous year’s
performance and performance commitment targets set in the most recent price review. .

Going concern:

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis as the Dlrectors have a reasonable expectation that
the Company has adequate resources for a period of at least 12 months from the date of thelr approval and that there are no
material uncertainties to disclose (see note 1).

Financial key performance indicators
The Company is part of a group controlled by Glas Cymru Holdlngs Cyfyngedig (GCHC the “group”). The Directors of Dwr Cymru
Cyfyngedig use group-wide key performance measures as indicators to the development, performance and position of the
Company. These are discussed in the 2023-2024 Annual Report and Accounts of GCHC WhICh does not form part of this report
(available on the Group 3 websute at Corporate Reports). .

Customers are at the heart of everything we do. We measure our performance via eight “Outcomes” which are based on broad
groupings of targets set by Ofwat at the last price review — “Outcome Delivery Incentives” (ODIs) The groupings represent the
key elements of the essential services we provrde to our customers across our supply area.

The regulatory targets are supplemented by our internal business and flnanual planmng processes. Every year targets are
discussed and agreed by the Board of Directors. The Executive team is held to account by our Non-Executive Directors to ensure
that the targets are sufficiently challenging and to monitor performance in accordance with those targets.

Our Company vision to'Earn the Trust of our Customers Every Day underpins our approach to dellvenng services, and the Board
is conscious of the need to set targets which maintain and build on that trust.

The Board also takes the opportunity to understand the views expressed by customers and other stakeholders in the extensive
engagement exercises undertaken as part of establishing Welsh Water 2050, and in the context of setting the Group's five-year
business plans for 2020-25. ' .
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Strategic report (continued) -

Principal risks and severity '
From the perspective of the Company, the principal risks and uncertalntles are integrated with the principal risks of the GCHC
group and are not managed separately and are discussed in the 2023-24 Annual Report and Accounts of GCHC. These include:
s  Environmental performance and reputation : )
e Business continuity
*  (Climate change impacts and transition rusks
e Health and safety major incident
e - Cyber, information and operatlonaltechno|ogy
e  QOperational performance and costs
e Loss of trust, particularly by our customers
*  People, talent and diversity
*  Finance (funding) risk

Emerging risks are discussed in depth by the Board twice each year and are also discussed in the 2023024 Annua! Report and
Accounts of GCHC.

e Substances of Emerging Concern {Wastewater & Drinking Water)

*  Legislative divergence )

S1 72 statement

‘The Directors are reqmred to'act in a manner which complies W|th their duties as set out in the Compames Act 2006.

The-relevant provisions of Section 172 of the Companies Act require a director of a company to act in a way they consider, in
good faith, would most likely promote the success of the company. In domg this, the director must have regard to, among other
matters: .

* the likely consequences of any decision in the long term.

e theinterests of the company’s employees.

* . the need to foster the company’s business relatlonshlps with supphers, customers and others.

¢ theimpact of the company’s operations on the community and the environment.

e the deS|rab|I|ty of the company maintaining a reputation for high'standards of business conduct.

Set out below is an overview of how the Board has performed its duties in this regard during the year. For further information,
please see the Governance Report on our Group Annual Report 2023-2024.

Stakeholder engagement :
The Board oversees measures'to ensure that stakeholder interests are always considered. Papers prepared by management
for Board approval include information on relevant stakeholder considerations to be discussed as part of the debate when
making decisions. This is to ensure that sufficient attention is given to stakeholder concerns, and that the mterests of all
relevant stakeholders are considered in the Board’s decision making.

Supplier engagement :
Supply chain risk is noted as one of the principal strategic risks reviewed at every Board meeting, and the Board receives monthly

reports via the' Monthly Management Report (MMR) from the Commercial Director, including-an update on any procurement

or key supplier issues. This has been a particular focus of Board attention over the past year in order to ensure the availability .

of appropriate’ skilled competitive supplier resource to deliver the planned -material increase in the capital investment

7 programme during AMP8. This helps ensure that the services provided to customers, the delivery of our investment schemes,
and the provision of other goods.and services, are in line with our expectations and.Company values. Board members also meet

' regularly with representatives of contractors working on our Capital Projects programme when attending svte visits. We have a

Supplier Payment Policy and we are a signatory to the UK Government Prompt Payment Code.

Employee engagement )

The Board recognises the importance of attracting, developing and retaining the right people. In accordance with best practice,
we have employment policies in place which provide equal opportunities for all employees, irrespective of sex, race, colour,
disability, sexual orientation, religious beliefs or marital status. The Board promotes inclusivity and supports developing each
individual to their full potential. Regular updates on health and safety turnover, absence and sickness levels are received and
key policies such as Equality, 'Diversit'y and Inclusivity, and pay, are reviewed at the Board or at relevant Committee meetings.
There are also regular updates from the Executive on discussions with the recognised trade unions through the Senlor
Negotiating team and in relation to employee engagement surveys and the action plan agreed by the Executive Team in
response to colleague feedback from the survey.
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Strategic feport'(continued)

Engagement with Glas Members =

The role of Glas Members is set out in the Governance Report of our Group Annual Report. Our Members are drawn from across
the supply area and the independent Member Selection Panel, chaired by Sir Paul Silk, aims to ensure a broad»spread of
background, skills and experience within the Membership.

Debra Bowen Rees, one of our Non-Executive Directors, is a member of the independent Member Selectlon Panel and,
therefore, has a particular connection with the.Glas Membership.

The Panel carries out an annual recruitment process to refresh the Membershlp as Members step down (after a maximum 9-
year term). The Board meets with Members in July and December each year and welcomes input from Members on key
strategic issues at these meeting, where there is always an opportunity for Member feedback and discussion. The company
Secretariat team ensures Members are kept up to date on current issues affecting the business on a regular basis and feeds
back Member views in a report to the Board at each Board Meeting. :

Engagement with the independent environmental advisory panel {IEAP)
This group includes representatives from environmental non-governmental organisations (NGOs), academu:s and third sector
organisations. The independent Environmental Adviser to the Board’s Quality and Safety Committee (QSC) attends meetings of
the IEAP, and reports back to the Quality and Safety Committee on issues of relevance to the Cgmrhittee.

Engagement with Glas Cymru investors : . .
During-FY 23 members of the Board and DCE attended the Group’s Annual Investors Meeting in London. The Group’s Treasury
team is also in regular contact with investors and credit rating agencies throughout the year. All formal communications with
investors are approved by the Board, and investors receive a six- -monthly Investor Report on which they are welcome to follow
up with the Treasury team.

The role of the DCE

* The Dwr Cymru Executive (DCE) Team, which includes the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer, are respons1ble for the
operational management of the Company. The Team are designated as senior management for the purpose of the UK Corporate
Governance Code but not for the purposes of section 414C(8) of the Companies Act 2006. The DCE comprises the senior
functional management roles and those with responsibility for interacting with the Company’s principal stakeholders.

Our Managing Directors for Water, Waste Water and Retail (Household Customers) attend all Board meetings.

The role of the Board -

The Board oversees measures to ensure that stakeholder interests are ‘always taken into account. Papers prepared by the
Executive Team for Board approval include information on relevant stakeholder considerations to be discussed as part of the
debate when making decisions. This is to ensure that sufficient attention is given to stakeholder concerns, and that the interests
of all relevant stakeholders are taken into account in the Board’s decision making.

.This includes making decisions about the long-term. As is very much aligned to our Purpose, the decisions the Board make now
will have long-term implications for our customers and communities now and for generations to come. This is particularly true
in relation to the long-term avaitability of water which is impacted by the environment, climate change and the demographics -
and usage habits of the communities in which we serve. The Board receives regular updates on long-term trends and considers
long-term strategies for carbon and energy, water and waste water management resource planning.

Through direct engagement with employees thfough employee engagement sessions, informal meetings with managers and by
conducting operational site visits the Board is ‘able to see and experience first hand how our culture and values are applied
across the business. Maintaining an effective culture within Welsh Water is a key component to support the delivery of our
strategies and the Board’s decision making needed to promote the long-term success of the Company.

By order of the Board

P M Davis
Chief Financial Officer
10 July 2024 ) ¢
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Directors’ report

The performance review of the Company can' be found within the Strategic Report on pages 2 to 9. This provides detailed
information relating to the Company, its business model and strategy, the operation of its businesses, future developments and
the results and financial position for the year ended 31 March 2024. Full details and analysis of the operational performance of
Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig durmg the year to 31 March 2024 are included in the publlshed 2023-24 Annual Report and Accounts of
GCHC.

The directors have pleasure in presentving their annual report, together with the audited financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2024 on pages 21 to 61.

Directors

The Directors of the Company who were in office during the year, and up to the date of the signing of the financial statements,
are set out on page 1.

Directors’ indemnity
The Company has in place Directors’ and Officers’ insurance giving cover against legal action brought against the Directors and

“an indemnity in circumstances where a Director has not acted fraudulently or dishonestly. The indemnity is a qualifying

indemnity for the purpose of the Companies Act and is for the benefit of all Directors. No claims have been made against this
policy since the date of the last report. .

Employees

The Board recognises the importance of attracting, developing and retaining the right people. In accordance with best practice,

we have employment polii:ies in place which provide equal opportunities for all employees, irrespective of sex, race, colour,
disability, sexual orientation, religious beliefs or marital status. Further lnformatlon on the Board’s methods for engaging with
the workforce are on our Group Annual Report. :

Engagement with stakeholders

Details of how the Directors have had regard to the need to foster the Company’s business relatronshlps with suppliers,
customers and others, and the effect of that regard, including on the principal decisions taken by the Company during the
financial year, are set out in the Strategic Report on our Group Annual Report.

Research and development

With the support of our customers, regulators, and governments alike for lmproved services and reducing our carbon and
environmental footprint, we continue to look for better ways of workmg or advances in technology. We have made good
progress delivering the agenda set out in our innovation Strategy, with links to over 100 academic and other institutions,
technology specialists, and global innovation concerns. For details on our investment and research into technical and innovation
projects see page 77 of the Strategic Report in the Group Annual Report and Accounts.

Corporate governance

During the year ended 31 March 2024 we have applied the principles and complied wuth the provisions of the 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code and Ofwat’s Guidance on Board Leadership, Transparency and Governance, as updated in 2019, and as
required by our Licence conditions. Further details can be found in the Governance section on our Group Annual Report.

Persons of significant control '

We maintain a Register of People with Significant Control to comply with the requirements of the Small Business, Enterprise
and Employment Act 2015 {2015 Act). The Company has identified registrable relevant legal entities {(RRLEs) within the Group
structure.

Innovation

Over the past 12 months, we have continued to make good progress delivering the agenda set out in our Innovation Strategy,
which we refreshed and published in 2022. We have been working with over 100 academic and other institutions, our centre
of excellence for innovation — Spring Innovation Ltd, technology specialists, and global innovation concerns to undertake
research, and develop and trial new technol‘ogies we can adopt. Our refreshed strategy confirms the original 2 drivers of our
approach to innovation are still very much fit for purpose. see Our Challenges | DWr Cymru Welsh Water (dwrcymru.com).

Firstly, to develop and progress new technologies to improve customer service, create efficiencies and reduce resource use,
carbon and costs. Secondly, to use our research and evidence-led work to help shape the views of regulators and governments,
and so enable the development of new innovative policies to be formulated which facilitate and support the delivery of our
2050 vision, for example, on catchment solutions and nutrient trading.
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Directors’ report (continued)

{nnovation (continued)

So.far this Asset Management Period we have received over 500 proposals for innovation at our Innovatlon Portal at
dwrcymru.com/innovation, and completed some 69 Innovation projects ‘arising from these. We have invested some £7.1m in
leveraged research, achieving an overall leverage ratio of just over 8:1. We remain one of the most highly involved companies
with the Ofwat Innovation funded projects, and iook forward to the total size of available funds growing from £200m in AMP7
to £400m in AMP8. These innovations should enable us to drive further echnencnes in resource use and in our carbon and
. environment footprints, as well as financial benefits.

" Our research work continues to be used to help support policy change in the EU through Eureau, the European industry trade
body. We were pleased to see the inclusion of the principle of producer responsibility in the newly agreed Urban Wastewater
Treatment Directive, requiring the pharmaceutical industry to fund at least 80% of certain treatment processes required to
further reduce the presence of pharmaceutical products in treated sewage effluents. Similarly, the sector will be undertaking
further monitoring of its performance, and environment footprint so that we can make better, more sustainable investment
decisions going forward. This sets a powerful precedent and should assist the whole water sector and pharmaceutical and
chemical industries to move to a more sustainable footing. Our research programme is now focusing on a wide range of topics,
including how best to progress nature-based sustainable investments for our supply area.

We are planning our next biennial virtual Innovation Conference, celebrating our innovation successes to date, and looking
forward to AMPS in terms of establishing stronger partnerships to deliver improvements and efficiencies for our customers.

We remain very active in the support of Spring Innovation Ltd, the centre of excellence for innovation in the water sector. Spring
is now fully operatlonal and making great strides to progress one voice innovations and dlssemmate the knowledge arising from
the trials work we as a sector undertake.

With the support of our customers, regulators, and governments alike for improved services and reducing our carbon and
environmental footprint, we continue to look for better ways of working and advances in technology. We have made good
progress delivering the agenda set out in our Innovation Strategy, with links to over 100 academic and other institutions,
technology specialists, and global innovation concerns.

Greenhouse gas emissions

The UK Water Industry Research Limited developed a standardised workbook & associated methodology for estimating
' Operational greenhouse gas, GHG, emissions, called the Carbon Accounting Workbook, CAW to bring consistency and accuracy

to the reporting process across the water industry. Our data is audited annually to ISO 14064 carbon reporting standard. The

workbook has been in place for over ten years and is annually reviewed to incorporate the latest best practice and ‘science

regarding estimation & reporting of greenhouse gas emissions and is updated accordingly. In assessing progress against our

target to be net-zero by 2040, we report our performance against our Scope 1 and 2, and Scope 3 emissions.

Education programme and our visitor attractions

We have broadly maintained customer satisfaction scores in FY 24, achieving S5th place in the sector-wide C- MeX rating. When
compared with other Water and Sewerage companies (WASC), with activities more comparable to ours, we are placed 3rd in
the C-Mex rating. This is supported by the level of social tariffs we have continued to make available to customers through our’
HelpU and WaterSure schemes, along with extending our support to more customers in vulnerable circumstances by expanding
the availability of our Cymuned scheme. Our reach for priority services for vulnerable customers improved year-on-year and
beat both the business plan and FD targets. We also performed well on community education and vistor centre attendees,
improving year-on-year and beating targets on both these measures. Our visitor centres welcomed. over a million people,
boosted by our new centre near Cardiff following our restoration of the Lisvane and Llanishen reservoirs.

Supporting vulnerable customer and social tariffs

We are acutely aware of the pressures the current cost-of-living crisis, driven by |nf|at|on are having on our customers We
continue to expand our range of assistance tariffs to support customers through this period, with 130,000 customers now
getting help to pay their bills, £14 m|Il|on being contributed through our return of value not-for- shareholder structure during
the year.

'

The customer voice is represented through the Independent Challenge Group (ICG).
!

Over recent years, working with debt advice agencies, we have developed a range of financial support packages to help over
145,000 households who struggle to pay their bills. Our latest support scheme, Cymuned, is aimed at providing working
household customers with temporary support to pay their water bills. Until we launched Cymuned, working households were
not usually eligible for financial assistance from Welsh Water, but the scheme enables us to provide short-term support if their
household bills exceed their income. This is the only scheme of its kind being offered in the sector, and we have expandedits
availability during FY 24 following its launch in late 2023. Our ‘Here for You’ campaign aims to raise awareness of the financial
support on offer from Welsh Water while breaking down perceived barriers for customers getting in touch if they are struggling.
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Directors’ report (continued)

Supporting vulnerable customer and social tariffs (continued) - )

One of our most popular schemes is the HelpU tariff. This helps low-income households on a means tested benefit by putting a
cap on the amount they pay for their water, based on how many people are living at the property. Working with over 300
Centre Plus, housing associations and foodbanks) to help identify and support customers who may be eligible for a discounted
bill. .

W6 hosted two open ‘Your Water, Your Say’ meetings to help inform the development of our 2025-30 Business Plan. We meet
quarterly with CCWater and our Independent Customer Challenge Group, which play a key role in protecting customers’
interests. We Track customer perceptions including trust and satisfaction. against key indicators. We also offer customers online
self-service options to report problems and they can also contact us 24/7 through an array of different channels.

Biodiversity -

Our biodiversity strategy sets out our ambitions, objectives and action plan to maintain and enhance biodiversity and ecological
resilience across our operational assets and landholdings, within the fulfilment of our functions. Our strategnc objectives to
achieve this, as already supported by our biodiversity plan, focus on the followmg areas:

¢  Restore habitats and look after the protected sites we own.

e Work in partnership with our regulators and stakeholders and promote research opportunities.

*  Improve the management of invasive non-native species (INNS). .

»  Develop and engage our colleagues as ambassadors and work better to understand our customers’ expectations.
e  Maintain and enhance biodiversity at our operational assets and landholdings.

Our biodiversity mission links directly to our duty in Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. it requires us to produce
and publish a corporate biodiversity action plan and report progress every 3 years. Our first Biodiversity plan was published in
2017 and refreshed in 2020. Our latest updated plan will be published in 2023. By delivering this mission we will support and
meet our legislative requirements relating to biodiversity and ecology, and so help move our business to a sustainable footing.
The strategy aims to deliver performance improvements in both the short term and the medlum term through to 2030, and
ensure our plans remain allgned with the longer-term objectives of Welsh Water 2050.

Social

Our company vision is to Earn the Trust of our Customers Every Day. Building strong relatlonshlps with our customers.and
communities is key to maintaining that trust as we deliver essential services to 3.1 million people across our supply area. it is
central to our strong staff engagement that they feel able to make a positive impact through their service delivery.

Equality, diversity and inclusivity
"In this financial year we have achieved our best safety performance with a total of 5 reportable injuries and 17 serious lost time
incidents. This continues a trend of progressive reduction over the last decade from 2011 when we had over 30 reportable
accidents. A significant amount of effort goes into achieving this high standard of safety performance and | am very grateful to
our managers, people, and our safety professionals for their dedication and input. Our ‘Safety Takes Every Person’ (STEP)
training programme is well established and continues to be used to engage our people in contemporary health. safety and
wellbeing best practices. STEP also underpins our safety culture and longstanding elements of our improvement plan such as
our quarterly Executive-led ‘Safety Days’. These and the ‘Take 5’ personal risk assessment process and monthly ‘Safety
Conversation’ engagement plan are helping us firmly embed a safety first mindset in our people and our contract partners.
Alongside our direct safety plan we expend a lot of effort focused on occupational health and wellbeing. We have retained our
RoSPA Gold Award and the Welsh Government Platinum Award for occupational health.
Our 2023 Employee Engagement Survey saw an 89% completion rate, our highest ever return and a 75% company level
engagement score, matching that of 2022. This was especially pleasing as the backdrop of high inflation at the start of 2023
meant we had to renegotiate our existing pay deal at a time when our people were dealing with a cost-of-living challenge in
their home lives. While we were able to reach a sensible and fair outcome for the Company and our people it was encouragmg
to see our high level of employee engagement sustained.

Other highlights from the 2023 survey were

* 98% of our people are clear about their role in terms of their own health and safety
. ® 94% of people believe the Company takes health and safety serlously '

* 91% believe Welsh Water strives to deliver great service to its customers; and

 80% Would recommend Welsh Water as a good place to work.

In 2024, we will engage our people to develop our ‘AM 8 Ready’ plans, ahead of the start of the new regulatory period starting
in April 2025. Tighter performance targets, greater customer expectations, sustained political interest, and challenges such as
our biggest ever capital investment programme, will require the very best capability within the organisation.
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Directors’ report (continued)

. Equality, diversity and inclusivity (continued)
Our service improvement and cost efficiency plans are dependent on our people, and we will continue to support, develop, and .
-reward our colleagues to meet these challenges. We will also build on our progressive approach with our trade unions to agree
the changes necessary to achieve better performance, while at the same time ensuring we maintain our position as a
leading employer in Wales through our wider people plan, covering key areas such as equality, diversity and inclusion. Alongside
this we will maintain an ongoing commitment to training, personal development, and corporate social responsibility, so that
our people continue to give their best and remain proud ambassadors for Welsh Water as a trustworthy provider of essential
services and a great employer.

* We have also supported our employees through the cost-of-living crisis. Having already implemented the increase to the Real
Living Wage for all affected employees, we worked with our recognised trade unions to make a one-off payment of either
£1,000 or £2,000 to eligible colleagues in December 2022 and agreed a 6.2% pay award from 1 April 2023 for most of our
employees.

Our support for graduates and apprentices

Recruiting our future workforce . ]
We are continuing to invest in recruiting new talent into Welsh Water by identifying those with the right skills, attrlbutes and
behaviours to become our highly skilled workforce of the future. We continue to review the programmes we offer, and our
apprentice offering is for craft roles as well as in support functions and degree apprenticeships.

We continue to partner with the University of South Wales to deliver our network75 programme which is a combined work
placement and part-time study route to a degree, allowing students to work, earn and learn. Over the past 12 months, we have
recruited 41 graduates and apprentices and 2 colleagues have taken part in the network75 programme.

Auditor FY24

The decision to appoint Deloitte LLP as Auditor to the Group was approved by the Glas Cymru Board at the AGM in July 2023.

Deloitte LLP acted as Auditor of the Group for the accounts for the year ending 31 March 2024 and is subject to annual re-

appointment by the Members at the’AGM in respect of each subsequent financial year. Accordingly, in accordance with Section

489 of the Companies Act 2006, a resolution proposing the appomtment of Deloitte LLP as Auditor of the Group will be put to
" the Members at the forthcomlng AGM. .

Human rights ) :

We are committed to respecting human rights in relation to colleagues, and our supply cham (see page 111 of our Group Annual
Report for information on our Supplier Code of Conduct). Our internal Code of Conduct is supported by several Group policies
including, Anti-bullying and Harassment; Whistleblowing, Anti-bribery and Corruption, and Anti-Fraud. )

Working collaboratively.

One of the prevalent features in Wales is our ability to work in close partnershups as is required in the case of public bodies by

the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act. The Act requires public bodies to demonstrate in their decision making the

impact that they could have on people living in Wales in the future as well as in the present. This is to show that they are acting

in accordance with the sustainable development principle, as defined in the Act. The Act directly supports 5 ways of working

which are all compatible with our Vision and views on sustainability, albeit we are not a public body as defined under the Act.

" These are: ) '

e To carry out sustainable development - intrinsic to the nature of our business and vision.

e Thinking for the long term — avoiding short-termism and considering how decisions will impact on the wellbeing of
future as well as current generations.

e  Prevention - acting early and with others to tackle the root cause of problems before they arise or get worse to bring

~ about better outcomes for individuals, public bodies and society as a whole. o

* Integration — ensuring that the full range of cohsequences of an action are considered so that activity in one area of
work can be shaped to complement, rather than uridermine, activities in others.

e Collaboration — working with others, so that as many objectives as possible can be met with the resources and
expertise available and not trying to solve problems alone but understanding the benefits of involving as wide a range

- of people as possible in helping shape the decisions and services that will affect their lives. -
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Whistleblowing

A healthy-culture where individuals feel able to speak out about anythmg that causes them concern is an important part of our
three lines of defence compllance model. Colleagues, suppliers, business partners and other stakehalders are encouraged to
‘Speak Up’ to raise concerns about conduct which is contrary to our values. Where appropriate, concerns will be investigated
by the Business Assurance Team, reporting directly to the Audit Committee. The Committee receives reports on the outcome
of investigations in private sessions with the Head of Busin'ess.Assurénce.' We are fully committed to protecting any employee
who reports a breach or suspected breach of the Code of Conduct or raises any other public interest disclosure. We publicise
an external helpline, which provides an additional confidential and secure means to raise concerns.

Sustainable Procurement Policy

We have established our sustainable procurement aspirations through collaboration with key stakeholders covering
environmental, economic and social areas. Our aspirations have been mapped against DCWW’s ESG Strategy Obijectives, the
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act and are included in our Sustainable Procurement Policy (SPP). We have assessed
the impact on these sustainable procurement aspirations in the key categories we procure by undertaking risk and opportunity
heatmapping of existing procurement contracts against the aspirations. We are in the process of detailing our implementation
plan for deployment of the Sustainable Procurement Policy in the current financial year.

Supply Chain Compliance Standards ) )
We launched the Supplier Code of Conduct (SCC) in April 2021. Since then we have:

e Included supplier acceptance and confirmation of compliance with the SCC as a pass/ fail test at the Pre-Qualification
Questionnaire stage tender processes. ) :

e Incorporated compliance with the SCC as standard wording in all goods and services contracts which have been
awarded, changed or extended since April 2021.

e Amended the purchase order terms and conditions to.incorporate the requirements of the SCC.

Modern Slavery Awareness

We held an annual week-long campaign on modern slavery awareness. in October 2022, Procurement in conjunction with the
Hope for Justice Alliance, engaged with and trained 36 operatlonai Contract Managers, 15 colleagues from the Procurement
and Compliance teams, and 37 suppliers (which provide services with a higher risk of modern slavery occurring in their supply
chain) on how to identify the signs that modern slavery may be occurring and to confirm our reporting procedures in the event
that modern slavery is suspected to be taking place. We also highlighted the Supplier Code of Conduct and the requirement to
comply with this during the training sessions. Our Anti-slavery statement can be found at dwrcymru.com/antislavery.

All members of the Procurement team have completed the Chartered Institute of Procurement and Supply’s (CIPS) Ethical
Procurement and Supply e-Learning and Test certification and Welsh Water successfully attained the CIPS Corporate Ethics
Mark accreditation. This signals to Welsh Water’s suppliers, customers, potential employees, and other stakehoiders that they
are dealing with an organisation that is committed to ensuring its staff are trained in ethical sourcing and supplier management,
and that we have adopted ethical values in the wav in Wthh we source and manage suppliers.

Anti-bribery, corruption and anti-fraud

Our Group policy makes it clear that we will not tolerate any acts of fraud dishonesty, bnbery, corruptlon theft or improper
disclosure of confidential information. The Company treats these issues very seriously and expects any issues to be reported
immediately. This is reinforced by our strict policy on hospitality and gifts from suppliers, which is regularly monitored and
actively enforced. ’ '

No breaches of policy were notified to Internal Audit or the external whistleblowing hotline during the period 2023-24.

Conflicts of interest
We require our employees to perform their duties honestly and to avoid confllct between any personal, ﬁnancnal or commercial
interests and their responsibilities to Welsh Water.

External directorships and other outside business interests are closely monitored, along with the nature and number of external
directorships held by the Directors in order to satisfy ourselves that any additional appointments will not adversely impact their
time commitment to their role at Welsh Water. Before appointment of a Director, the appointee is asked to disclose any other
interests that may result in a conflict of interest and all Directors are required to report to the Board any future business
interests that could result in an actual or perceived conflict of interest. Any proposed new external appointments of an existing
Director must be discussed with the Chair of the Board, in the first instance, and submitted to the Nomination Committee for
approval.
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Data protection and information securlty

Welsh Water is committed to ensuring that we handle the personal mformatlon of our customers and employees in a
responsible and honest .way, including respecting their data protection rights in compliance with Ieglslatlon Our Privacy
Statement is available.on'our website at Privacy-policy. . - .

Political donations
It'is Board policy not to make donations to political parties or to incur political expendlture No donations or payments were
made which would require to be disclosed under section 366 of the Companies Act 2006.

Financial risk management

The Company’s operations expose it to a variety of financial risks that include the effect of changes in debt market prices, credit
risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Company has in place a risk management programme that seeks to limit the adverse
effects on the financial performance of thé Company by monitoring levels of debt finance and the related finance costs.

Dividend
No dividend was declared or paid in the year (2023: none).

Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures : Climate risk assessment

Our commitment to our custormers and the environment involves us mitigating and adapting to the impacts of climate change.
From April 2022, certain large businesses in the UK are required by law to include climate risks in their annual reporting. Welsh
Water views corporate governance as a core discipline and as such has taken the decision to report in line with these
requirements by following the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD). We have
worked with Jacobs. to produce a climate risk disclosure, covering the four key disclosure areas of the TCFD: Governance,
Strategy, Risk Management, and Metrics & Targets, and recogniéing that this is our first year of reporting we are taking steps
towards future full compliance with the 11 TCFD recommended disclosures. The full report is available at TCFD Report.

Going concern .

The financial statements for FY24 have been prepared on the going concern basis. For the Directors’ Gomg Concern statement
and detail of why the Going Concern assumption is cunsidered appropriatc, see page 26 within accounting policies.
Regulatory accounts

Condition F of the Instrument of Appointment under which DWr Cymru Cyfyngedig operates requires that Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig
publish additional financial information as an ‘appointed business’. A copy of this information will be published on DWr Cymru
Cyfyngedig’s website by 15 July 2024 and will also be available on request from the Company Secretary.

Group structure -

These financial statements for DWr Cymru Cyfyngedig cover the year to 31 March 2024. The Company s immediate parent
company is DWr Cymru (Holdings) Limited. The entire share capital of DWr Cymru {Holdings) Limited is owned by Gias Cymru’
{Securities) Cyfyngedig, which is wholly owned by Glas Cymru Anghyfyngedig. The ultimate holding company and.controlling
party is Glas Cymru Holdings Cyfyngedig, a company registered in England and Wales. ’

Dlsclosure of mformatlon to auditor .

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there
is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and each Director has taken all the steps that he
ought to have taken as a Director to. make himself aware of any relevant audit |nformat|on and to establish that the Company's
auditor is aware of that information.

By order of the Board
P ruio
P M Davis

Chief Financial Officer

_ Registered office:
Linea . . .
Fortran Road - S . o
St Mellons E
Cardiff
CF3 OLT

10 July 2024
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Strategic Report, the ;
Directors’ Report and the financial statements-

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they have elected
to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards and applicable law.

‘Under compa'ny law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of Company’s assets, liabilities, financial position and the profit or
loss of the Company for that perlod In prepanng these financial statements, the Dlrectors are requnred to:

o - select suitable accountmg policies and then apply them consistently;

. " make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant and reliable;

. state whether they have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards;

. assess the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going

concern; and

. . use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either mtend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations
. or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position-of the Company and enable them to
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal control as

' they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial staterhents that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to
safeguard the assets of the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the
Company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dlssemmatlon of fmanual statements may differ -
from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Independent auditor’s reporf to the members of Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig

Report on the audit of the financial statements -

Opinion

In our opinion the fnanmal statements of Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig (the ‘company’):

s give a true and fair wew ofthe state of the company'’s affairs as at 315t March 2024 and of |ts loss for the year then
ended;

~ & havebeen properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International’ Accounting Standards Board (IASB);
and ) ’ ’

e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audlted the financial statements which comprlse
e theincome statement;
e the statement of comprehensive income;
e _.the balance sheet;
the statement of changes in equity;
the cash flow statement;
e the material accounting policy mformatlon and
e therelated notes 1 to 27.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable Iaw and United ngdom
adopted international accounting standards and IFRSs as issued by the IASB.

Basis for opinion . )

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (1SAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the audltor s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. :

We'are independent-of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, and.we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audlt evidence we
have obtamed is sufficient and appropriate to providé a basis for our opinion.

" Conclusions relatmg to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in
‘the.preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. :

Our evaluation of t'he directors’ assessment of the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting mcluded

e reviewing the group’s borrowing: arrangements in particular the assessment of level of commltted undrawn

~ facilities including the revolving credit facility of £400 million; -

e  assessing the assumptions used in the cash flow forecasts for consistency with Board approved budgets and
future plans for the remaining period of AMP (Asset Management Plan) 7 and the Iatest forecast for the first
three months of AMPS; :

e testing the arithmetic accuracy of the cash flow forecast;
evaluating covenant compliance and headroom on those covenants; and

e  assessing the appropriateness of management’s going concern dusclosures in light of the above assessment.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not ident'ified any material uncertainties relating to events or-conditions,
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a gomg concern for a
period of at least twelve months from when the fmancnal statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to gomg concern are described in the relevant
sectlons of this report.
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.

Independent audltor's report to the members of Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedlg
(continued) '

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other |nformat|on contained within the annual report. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and; in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other mformatron we are required to report
that fact. .

We have nothing to reportin this regard..

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors’
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, -
whether due to fraud or error. .

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company'’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting

, unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do
SO. : ’ M : . - -

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.

" Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
(UK} will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decrsnons of users taken on the basis of these fmancnal statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at:
WWw.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities, This description forms part of our auditor’s reportv

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting uregulantles, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulatlons We desrgn procedures in I|ne with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

We considered the nature of the company’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed the company’s
documentation of their policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We also
enquired of management, internal audit, the directors and the Audit.Committee about their own identification and
assessment of the risks of irregularities, including those that are specific to the company’s business sector.
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Independent audltor’ s report to the members of Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedlg
(continued)

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulator\} frameworks that the company operates in, and identified the key
laws and regulations that: )
"o had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in.the financial statements. These

- included UK Companies Act, pensions legislation, and tax legislation; and .

e donot have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the
company’s ability to operate or-to avoid a material penalty. These included the license conditions imposed by The
Water Services Regulatory Autnbrity (Ofwat), Environment Agency, Drinking Water. Inspectorate, National Rivers
Authority, Natural Resources Wales, Wales Act, GDPR and Health & Safety. '

We discussed among the audit engagement team including relevant internal specialists such as tax, pensions, IT, treasury
_and ESG regarding the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the orgamsatlon for fraud and how and where
fraud mlght occur in the financial statements.

In common with all audits underISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of
management override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we tested the
appropriateness of journal entries and Aothe[' adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in making acbounting
estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any significant transactions that are
unusual or outside the normal course of business.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:

e reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions
of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

e performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of
material misstatement due to fraud; :

e enquiring of management, internal audit and external legal counsel concerning actual and potentual Imgatlon and
claims, and instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations; and

- e reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports, reviewing

correspondence with Ofwat and other relevant regulatory authorities. '

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

\
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
e theinformation given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the fmanual
" statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and _
e the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in }'espect of the following matters if, in our opinion:

e adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or S

e . thefinancial statements are not in agreement with the accountmg records and returns or

e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig
(continued)

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members asa body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies

Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are
required-to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

" Dewuen Joney

Delyth Jones (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor

Cardiff, United Kingdom 4
10 July 2024
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Income statement for the Year ended 31 March 2024

2024 g "2023

) Restated
Continuing activities - . . Note £m ’ “fm
Revenue I : . 2 ' ¢ .924.4 ] i 8413
Operating costs: o )
- Operational expenditure’ ) 3 (368.4) " (374.1)
- Impairment of trade and qther receivables - 3 {28.3) . ) (24.8)
- Other operating income ) 3 52 | 53"
- Exceptional item 3 - (30.8)
- Infrastrueture renewals expenditure 3 - {101.3) (78.0)
- Depreciation and amortisation 3 (385.6) , . (345.6)
. (878.4) © (848.0)
Operating profit/(loss) . L 46.0 ' (6.7
Profit on disposal of propeny, plant and-equipment ' . ’ ’ 03 04
N .
‘ - 0N -
Profit/(loss) before interest o ’ o 46.3 (6.3)
Financial expenses: ' ) : .
Financial income ’ . 4 - . 204 147
Financial expenses o ) a .o . (359.4) (485.2)
"Fair value gains on derivative financial instruments - . 548 ' 94.5
, 37.4 . (20.9)
Settlements accruing in the year 4 . ) ’ .
. . T 17.4 115.4
Other movements on derivative financial instruments - 4 : )
Total financial expenses . (284.2) (376.0)
Loss before taxation A ‘ ’ {237.9) : (382.3)
Taxation ' . : . - - 56.7 C 83.1
Loss for the year - - . .o ’ : - (181.2) . (299.2) -

The comparators for financial expenses and fair value gains on denvatlve financial instruments.have been restated. There is no impact on
the loss for. the year. More information is available under note 1 to these financial statements.

The notes on pages 26 to 61 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2024

2024 2023

Note £m : £m
Loss for the year . . ; o © (181.2) (299.2)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Actuarial gain recognlsed in the pension scheme . 21 o " 26.4 124.5l
Related deferred tax ' .6 (6.6) - ' : ‘ (31.1)
Revaluation of property, plént and equipmenf o 7 3 . 141._8 A ' 593.4
Related deferred tax . " 6 (35.4) (148.4)
1262 538.4
Total c'ompreAhe.nsive (expense)/income for the year —(5'5_6)— - . _W
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.Balance sheet as at 31 Ma’r.ch 2024 L

. 2023
2024 Restated
‘Note . ) , £m ’ £m
Assets : :
Non-current assets :
Property, plant and equipment 8 o 7,293.5 6,959.2
intangible assets . ) 9’ 201.0 202.2
Trade and other receivables . . 10 ' 1.6 -
Other financial assets: ’ .
- derivative financial instruments - . 14 - 4.1
- Employee benefits ' ) ‘ 21 316 12.0
: ' N 7,521.7 7,1775
Current assets .

. Inventories 79 ' 53
Trade and other receivables . . 10 . 644.9 647.2
Cash and cash equivalents 11 - 147.3 362.6

- Other financial assets: t ‘
- derivative financial instruments < 14 o 12 - . 5.8
’ ’ 801.3 1,020.9
Total assets . ’ 8,329.0 8,198.4
. Liabilities : )
Current liabilities ) . . _'
Trade and other payables . a2 . ' (627.2) ~ (685.0)
Provisions ‘ 16 © {5.4) {17.8)
Other financial liabilities: ° . ) .
- borrowings ' 13 o - (197.3) {94.7)
) : (829.9) (797.5) -
Net current (liabilities)/assets . . ) . * (28.6) 223.4
_ Non-current liabilities . . . .

- Trade and other payables : 12 . (740.4) - {540.8)
Employee benefits . T 21 . ‘ (2.6) ' -
Provisions © 16 i ’ {5.2) ) (5.9)
Other financial liabilities: ; ’ ‘

- borrowings 13 (4,445.2) ~ (4,438.4)
- derivative financial instruments ' 14 (46.6) .¢(76.6)
Deferred tax - net ' ’ 6 ) (768.3) . (793.4)
’ (6,008.3) (5,855.1)
Total liabilities ’ ) (6,838.2) © (6,652.6)
- Net assets . 1,490.8 1,545.8
Equity : : :
Share capital ' ) 17 ) 309.9 309.9
Capital redemption reserve i ' ' 166.2. " 166.2
Revaluation reserve ' 7 - 1,271.2 Y 1,267.0
Retained earnings . o . ) {256.5) (197.3)
Total equity ’ 1,490.8 . 1,545.8
The financial statements on pages 21 to 61 were approved by the Board of Directors on 10 July 2024 and were signed on its
behalf by: : . ~
P M Davis
Chief Financial Officer o ’ ) . Registered N2 2366777

The comparators for derivative ﬁnancial,instruménts have been restated. Thére is no impact on net assets. More information is available -
-under note 1 to these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 March 2024

.

. Capital- .

Share redemption " Revaluation Retained Total

- cqpital reserve reserve earnings equity

£m ' T £m £m. £m £m

' At 1 April 2022 . | 309.9 ' 166.2 914.7 (84.2) 1,306.6

Loss for the year V - A - . (299.2) » (259.2)

. Actuarial loss net of tax - - - - 93.4 93.4

Revaluation net of tax 4 .- . - 445.0 - " 4450
Transfer to retained earnings - .- (92.7) 927 0.0

At 31 March 2023, ) 309.9 166.2 1,267.0 (197.3) 1,545.8

Loss fér t'he year ' ' ' ‘- o - - (181.2) (181.2)

Actuariallgain net of tax - - - 19.8 19.8

Revaluation net of tax - - 106.4 - 106.4

'
" Transfer fo retained earnings - ' - (102.2) 102.2 0.‘0
At 31 March 2024 . 309.9 166.2 1,271.2 (256.5) '1,490.8
Y .
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Cash flow statement for the year ended 31 March 2024

Co 2023
2024 restated
- Note - £m . £m
Cash flow from operating activities ) .
Cash generated from operations * 18a 3785 - 377.4
_Income tax received ' . 0.5 ‘ 0.6
Net cash inflow from operating activities - 379.0 378.0
Cash flow from investing activities : . ) )
Interest received ) © 204 13.2
Purchase of property, plant and equipment o (372.4) (296.6) -
Purchase of intangible assets DR . (39.3) (38.6)
Grants and contributions received - 32.2 30.5
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment o 0.3 0.4 .
Net cash outflow from investing activities (358.8) . {291.1) -
Net cash flow before financing activities ) . . . 20.1 ’ 86.9
Cash flow from financing activities . ] )
Repayment of borrowings . ) - (2.5)
intercompany loan received 230.0 . -
Long-term loans repaid (a54) - (38.9)
Loan repaid to group undeértaking L (20.0) - : (20.0)-
Interest paid " 18b ’ (193.2) (128.7)
Receipts on derivative financial instruments 18c ] 8.7 . 36.3
Payments on derivative financial instruments ] ) 18c (11.8) .. (57.2)
Payment of lease liabilities . ' ; . (201.8) (12.5)
Term loan issue costs e ' (1.9) -
Net cash outflow from financing activities’ ) . (235.4) . (228.0)
(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ' - 19 (215.3) (141.1)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April ) ' ] ' 3626 - 503.7
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March’ ’ 11 147.3 362.6

* Exceptional costs of £nil (2023: £30,800) are included in cash flows generated from operations.

The comparators for interest paid and receipts/payments on derivative financial instruments have been reclassified following a changé in
accounting policy (see none 1). There is a £149.6m increase to net cash inflow from operating activities with a correspond}ng increase to
net cash outflow from financing activities, there isno impact on net cash outflow for the prior year. More information is available under
note 1 to these financial statements. ’
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1. ‘Accounting policies for the year ended 31 March 2024

Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig (‘the Company‘) is a private company incorporated, domiciled and registered in Wales in the UK. The
registered number is 2366777 and the registered address is Linea, Fortran Road, St Mellons, Cardiff, CF3 OLT.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been applied consistently to both years presented.

Basis of preparatlon

The financial statements of Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with
UK-adopted international accounting standards (“UK-adopted IFRS”) and applicable law. The financial statements have been
. prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of fixed assets, other financial assets and
liabilities (including derivative financial instruments) at fair value through profit or loss. The presentational and functional
currency in these accounts is sterling.and all balances are shown rounded in £m.

The preparation of financial statements to conform with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It.also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas
including a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements, are disclosed on pages 32 to 35.

Gomg concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis as the Directors have a reasonable expectation that

the Company have adequate resources for a period of at least 12 months from the date of their approval and that there are

no material uncertainties to disclose. As set out in the strategic report on page 3, the majority of funding for the Company is
" provided by Dwr Cymru (Financing) UK pic a fellow group Company and as a result the going concern assessment is primarily

prepared at a Group (GCHC) level with specific Company level considerations where approprlate g

In assessing the appropriateness of the going concern basis of accounting, the Directors have reviewed the resources available
to the Company and the Group in the form of cash and committed bank facilities headroom, which stands at £467 million at
31 March 2024, further extended to in excess of £600m post year end following a new £125m term loan being agreed, as well
as consideration of the Group's capital adequacy. The Group presently has £400m revolving credit facilities available to use
at its discretion and should the Group and the Company deem beneficial, will be utilised in part to manage operational cash
flows. £80m_-has been drawn by the Group and on-lent to the Company as at 31 March 2024 with repayment made during
May 2024. The Group’s revolving credit facilities currently have a termination date of February 2027.

The Board has approved a Treasury refinancing strategy which sets out the approach to be followed to meet the Group'’s
financing needs for the next 6 years. The Group has evaluated the present market environment and considered our AMP 8
refinancing requirement, where we will need to refinance over £3bn. This level of liquidity is considered adequate to meet
operational needs in the short-term and means we would not require further funding beyond our emstmg revolving credit
facilities until March 2026, where our next material debt repayment is due to occur.

The Group has maintained active relationships with a number of lenders and also’ monitors market trends, being aware of
the regular, well-subscribed debt issuances in the sector. Considering the Group’s credit ratings being among the highest in
the industry, the Directors are confident in the Group’s ability to raise the required funds, in a timely manner and at a
competitive rate, with various alternative options available such as early issuance of our AMP.8 refmancnng, private placement
bonds and term loans.

The directors have considered the magnitude of potential impacts resulting from uncertain future events or changes in
conditions, and the likely effectiveness of mitigating actions that the directors would consider undertaking. The financial plan
has been subjected to a number of severe but plausible dowriside scenarios in order to assess the Group’s ability to-operate
within existing covenants and facilities. These scenarios consider: the potential impacts of increased totex costs, including a
significant one-off totex impact arising in the assessment period; low'and high inflation environments; elevated levels of bad
debt; outcome delivery incentive penalties; and the impact of these factors materialising on a combined basis. Mitigating
actions were considered to include deferral of capital expenditure and a reduction in other discfetionary totex spend. The
directors have also assessed the potential impacts resulting from the cost-of-living crisis and interest rates presently affecting
the UK, and although they gerierate a negative on our financials, none of these factors pose a significant concern to disclose
in relation to the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Reduced cash flows would impact on key financial metrics, in particular interest cover ratios. In the extreme downside
scenario, gearing and interest covers retain headroom within the trigger levels specified in borrowing covenants; and whilst
the reduced cash flows weaken our financial metrics, they remain within rating agencies’ guidance for our current ratings.
Having considered these matters, the Directors do not believe there are any material uncertainties to disclose in relation to
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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'Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Gomg concern {continued) .
Reduced cash flows would impact on key financial metrics, in particular interest cover ratios. In the extreme downside

" scenario, gearing and interest covers retain headroom within the trigger levels specnfied in borrowmg covenants; and whilst

the reduced cash flows weaken our financial metrics they remain within rating agencies’ guidance for our current ratings.

Havmg considered these matters, the Directors do not believe there-are any materlal uncertamtles to disclose in relation to
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. :

Changes in accounting policies and dlsclosures
The following new standards, amendments ‘and lnterpretations have been adopted by the Company for the flrst time for the
financial year beginning on 1 April 2023:

) Amendments

¢ Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (Amendments to IAS 1)

e Insurance Contracts (Amendments to IFR$17)

e Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8)

o Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (IAS 12)

The adoption of these standards, amendments and interpretations has not had a material impact on the financial statements
of the Company ’

~ The Company has changed accounting policy for the classification of interest paid on the cash flow statement. Interest paid

is now classified as a financing activity as this is deemed to better reflect the nature of the cash flows.

Future changes to, accountmg standards
At the date of approval of these financial statements, there are new Standards and Amendments, which have not been
applied in these financial statements, the Directors anticipate that the adoption of these Amendments in future periods will

_ have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group or parent company.

Revenue recognition :
Revenue represents the income receivable in the ordinary course of busiriess for performance obligations delivered, excluding
value added tax. Revenue is segmented into two income streams.

Regulated revenue reiates to the provnsuon of water, sewerage and reiated retall services. Revenue from customers with
meters is recognised when the service is provided and is measured based on actual meter readings and estimated
consumption for the period between the last meter reading and the year-end based on tariffs from the scheme of charges
published annually. For customers who are not metered, the performance obligation is the ablhtv to provide water and
sewerage services throughout the period. Such customers are charged on an annual basis, coterminous with the financial
year and revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis over the financial year.

All water companies have a legal obligation to allow third parties to establish an authorised connection to their networks and
a number of activities may be necessary in order to achieve this, giving rise to the following transactions and accounting
treatments under IFRS 15:

e Connection charges: these are amounts recejved from developers for connection to the network which the group °

' recognise as income on delivery of that performance obligation. :

e Infrastructure charges and requisitions: third party contributions towards the Group’s obligation to ensure future
service provision to the connection or mains over its life; the Group estimate that an average connectlon Iasts for
80 years and defer the release of charges over that period

e  Asset adoptions: usually sewers adopted at no cost, wherebv the.receipt of the asset is out of scope of IFRS 15 and

' should therefore be recognised at fair value {with deferral of related non-cash income).

e Diversions: payment in return for moving a water or sewer main to accommodate other infrastructure changes.
The performance obligation is to move the main, with no additional asset creation, therefore revenue is recognised
immediately. '

Other operating income principally relates to sales of gas. Revenue from sales of gas is recognised upon delivery.
_The Company’s energy strategy is to enter into contracts which fix the price of consumptlon less exports of future power
‘purchases in order to reduce the |mpact of power price variances.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

Exceptional items
Exceptional items are those significant items which are disclosed separately by virtue of their size and/or nature to enable a
true understandmg of the Company’s performance.

Property, plant and equ:pment

The economic value of the Company’s water and sewerage busmess is derlved from the Regulatory Capital Value (RCV) set
by Ofwat during its five yearly price reviews. The Company considers that a fair value approach to valuing its assets better -
reflects the'underlying value of the assets than historical cost accounting which understates the assets’ current value in use..

As at 31 March 2024 the total value of tangible and intangible fixed assets has been revalued to the Company’s ‘shadow-RCV’

(Regulatory Capital/Asset Value), being the 31 March 2024 RCV published by Ofwat in its PR19 Final Determination as

adjusted for the impact of any totex over/underspend and the Outcome Delivery Incentive rewards/penaltles The classes of
asset impacted are mfrastructure assets and operational structures

The carrying value of assets is reviewed for impairment if circumstances dlctate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable asset lives and residual values are reviewed annually.

Property, plant and equnpment comprlse .
e Infrastructure assets (being mains and sewers, impounding and pumped raw water storage reservoirs, dams sIudge
pipelines and sea outfalls); and .
e Other assets (including propertles overground operatuonal structures and equipment, and fixtures and fittings).

Infrastructure assets .

Infrastructure assets comprise principally impounding .reservoirs and a network of underground water and wastewater

systems. For accounting purposes, the water system is segmented into components representing categories of asset classes

with similar characteristics and asset lives. The wastewater system is segmented into components representing geographical
' operating areas, reflecting the way the Company operates-its wastewater activities.

Expenditure on infrastructure assets relating to' increases in capacity, enhancements or material replacements of network
components is treated as additions, which are included at cost. Expenditure incurred in repairing and maintaining the
operating capability of individual infrastructure components, “infrastructure renewals expenditure”, is expensed in the year
in which the expenditure is incurred.- : : E

The depreciation charge for mfrastructure assets is determined for each component of the network and is based on each
component’s cost, estimated residual value and the expected remaining average useful life. The useful average economic
lives of the infrastructure components range principally from 35 to-150 years, with a small number representing
approximately 4% of the total number of infrastructure assets falling 6u):side of this range. ' -

. Other assets: .
_ Other assets are deprecuated on a straight-line basis over their estlmated useful economic Ilves, which are as follows:

Freehold buildings 60 years
C_)perational structures " 5=80vyears
* Plant, equipment and computer hardware | 3-40} years

Assets in the course of construction are not depreuated untll commussnoned Land is not depreciated.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are general and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, constructlon and production
of qualifying assets are capitalised. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarlly take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale.

Adopted assets
Adopted assets at no cost comprise, pnncnpally sewers. They are recognised as additions at fair value and depreuated ona
. straight-line basis over an estimated useful economic life of 80 years.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets prmmpally comprise computer software and related system developments. Intangible assets are initially

included at cost less accumulated amortisation. Cost reflects purchase price together with any expenditure directly

attributable to bringing the asset into use, including directly attributable internal costs. Research expenditure is.recognised
as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred-on development projects are recognlsed as intangible assets when the relevant

recognition criteria are met.
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intangible assets {continued)

The carrying values of intangible assets-are reviewed for impairment if circumstances indicate they may not be recoverable. -
Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over thelr estimated useful economic lives, which range between 7,
and 20 years. These asset lives are reviewed annually. .

Leases

- At inception of a contract the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. Where a lease is present, a right-
- of-use asset and lease liability is recognised at the commencement date. The lease liability is measured at the present value
of future lease payments due over the term of the lease, with the right-of use asset recognised as property, plant and
equipment at cost. This'is generally equivalent to the initial measurement of the lease liability.

Lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that is not readily available, the Company’s
incremental rate of borrowing. Generally, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. After the
commencement date, the lease liability is increased for the accretion of interest ({being the unwinding of the discounting
applied to future lease payments) and reduced by lease payments made. In. addition to this the carrying amount is updated
to reflect any remeasurement or lease modifications. Remeasurements are typically required as a result of rent reviews or
changes to the lease term. In these cases a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset is made.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets is charged on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Where leases have a term
of less than 12 months from the commencement date and do not have a purchase option, the group applies the short-term
lease recognition exemption available under IFRS 16. The Company applies the low value recognition exemption permitted
by the standard to leases of assets with a value of less than £2,500. Payments for short-term and low value leases are instead
charged to operating costs on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

When the Company acts as a lessor, it determines at.lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. '

Grants and customer contributions
Grants and customer contributions in respect of expenditure on property, plant and equipment have been offset against
these assets.

Capital expenditure programme incentive payments

The Company’s agreements with its construction partners involved in delivering capital expenditure programmes incorporate
incentive bonuses payable after completion of the programmes. The cost of property, plant and equipment additions includes
an accrual for incentive bonuses earned to date, relating to projects substantially completed at the year-end, where the
likelihood of making the incentive payment is considered probable. Amounts recoverable from contract partners relating to
targets not being achieved are recognised only on completed projects. -

Inventory
" Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
" Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and measured subsequently at amortised cost less provision for
impairrr'\ent: They are first assessed individually for impairment, or coliectively where the receivables are -not significant
individually. Where there is no objective evidence of impairment for an individual receivable, it is included in a group of
receivables with similar credit risk characteristics and these are assessed collectively for impairment based on the expected
_credit loss. Movements in the provision for impairment are recorded in the income statement.
Cash and cash equivalents ’
Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Such investments are normally those with less than three months’
maturity from the date of acquisition and typically include cash in hand and deposits with banks or other financial institutions.

'
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Pension benefits

i) Defined benefit scheme

The asset recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the fair value of plan assets less the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting year. The fair value of these assets has been
estimated based on the latest available observable prices, updated with reference to movements in comparable observable
indices to the reporting date, and adjusted for judgements to reflect differences in the liquidity and credit components of the
asset pricing. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by an independent actuary using the projected unit
method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows
using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid,

and that have terms to maturlty approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation. More information is provided’
in note 21.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited
to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in the income statement.

i) . Defined contribution scheme

Obligations for contributions to the scheme are recognised as an expense in the income statement in the period in which
they arise.

Other financial liabilities h

Debt is measured initially at fair value, being net proceeds after deduction of directly attributable issue costs, with subsequent
measurement at amortised cost. Debt issue costs are recognised in the income statement over the expected term of such
instruments at a constant rate on the carrylng amount. AN

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods and services acquired in the ord-iriary course of business from suppliers.
Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year, or in the normal operating cycle of the
business.

Derivative instruments utilised by the Company are interest rate swaps, inflation swaps and power hedges. Derivative
instruments are used for hedging purposes to alter the risk profile of existing underlying exposures within the Group.
Derivatives are recognised initially and subsequently re-measured at fair value. During the year to 31 March 2024, one of the
Company'’s derivatives qualified for hedge accounting (2023: none), but the Company elected not to apply hedge accounting.
These instruments are carried at fair value with changes in fair value being recognised immediately in the income statement.

Loans receivable,

Loans receivable are measured at fair value on initial recognition. After initial recognmon loans-receivable are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method whereby interest is credited to the income statement
and added to the carrying value of loans receivable at a constant rate in proportion to the loan amount outstanding. The
Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) on its loans receivable. The-amount of expected credit
losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Financing income and expenses

Financing expenses include interest payable, indexation on index-linked borrowings, index-linked swaps and finance charges
on lease liabilities recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. Borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that takes a substantial time to be prepared for use,
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Financing income comprise interest receivable on funds invested.

Interest income and interest payable is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using.the effective interest method.

Taxation

Income tax for the year comprises current and deferred tax: Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent
"that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in reserves. Current tax is the expected tax

payabie on the taxable income for the year using rates substantially enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustments

to tax payable in respect of prior years.
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Deferred taxation

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method on temporary differences ansnng between the tax bases of
. assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred income tax
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
‘that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or-loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax has been re‘cognised in relation to rolled-over gains except for where reinvestment has been made in
certain operational assets which the Company plans to use until the end. of their useful economic life. The Company
anticipates that these assets will then be scrapped for negligible proceeds, or proceeds less than their tax base, and therefore
no chargeable gain is expected to arise in the future.

~Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable proflts wil! be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Prowsuons

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been estimated reliably.
More information is provided in note 17. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there is a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined
by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the ||ke|lh00d of an outflow w1th respect
" to any one item included in the same class of obligation is small. '

Financing risk management objectives and policies

Treasury activities are managed, at a Glas Cymru Anghyfyngedig (GCA) consolidated level, within a formal set of treasury
policies and objectives, which are reviewed regularly and approved by the Board at least annually to ensure compliance with
- the Common Terms Agreement (CTA). The policies specifically prohibit any transactions of a speculative nature and the use
of complex financial instruments. Certain detailed policies for managing interest rate, currency, inflation risk and liquidity risk ’
are approved by the Board and may be changed only with the consent of Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedlg s Securlty Trustee. The risk
. is mitigated further by limiting the level of exposure to any one counterparty.

The Company uses financial instruments to raise finance and manage operational risk; these instruments principally include :
listed bonds, leases, bank loan facilities and derivatives.

Credit risk ' .
The Company’s Board approved treasury policy adopts a prudent approach to cash management and timed deposrts are
placed for a maximum of three months with banks subject to minimum long-term rating criteria of A-/A3/A-. Bonds can be
purchased from certain AA-rated counterparties with maturities of up to one year and commercial paper purchases of up to
one year can be placed with certain AAA-rated supranationals only. During the year ended 31 March 2024 the maximum cash °
investment with a single counterparty was £100 million (2023: £100 million) '
“Interest rate risk
The GCA group is covenanted to hedge at least 85% of its total outstanding financial liabilities into either index- Iinked orfixed
rate obligations. As at 31 March 2024, the GCA group had hedges covering 94% of its total outstanding financial liabilities into
either index-linked or fixed rate obligations, including free cash balances (2023: 100%). For this purpose, floating rate interest
liabilities are hedged through a combination of derivative instruments and cash balances. The regulatory framework under
which revenues and the regulatory asset value are indexed also exposes the Company to inflation risk. Therefore, subject to
market constraints and Board approval, the Company may seek to raise new debt through index- llnked instruments or enter
into appropriate hedging transactions.

The Company analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking into consideration
_refinancing, renewal of existing positions, aiternative financing and hedging. Of total borrowings.of £4,683 million as at 31
March 2024 (2023 £4,533 million}), £445 million related to floating rate debt (2023: none). The Company therefore consuders
overall interest rate exposure at the balance sheet date to be minimal.

As at 31 March 2024, 94% (2023: 97%) of the GCA group s gross debt was at fixed or index- linked (RPI) rates of interest after
taking into account interest rate and RPI swaps. The hedges established to manage interest rate risks are generally economic
in nature, but do not satisfy the specific requirements in order to be treated as hedges for accounting purposes. Accordingly,
all movements in the fair value of the company’s derivative financial instruments are reflected in the income statement. This
has resulted in a net liability of £6.1 million in the Company’s balance sheet at 31 March 2024 (2023: £76.6 million) but,
assuming that the swaps are held to maturify, this will ultimately reduce to £nil as payments are‘made.
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Power price hedges :

The Company enters into contracts which fix the price of a proportion of future power purchases in order to reduce the
impact of power price variances. These contracts qualify as financial instruments and are included within the financial
statements. :

Refinancing risk .

" Refinancing risk is managed by maintaining a balance between the continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
borrowings across a range of |nstruments, types and maturities. The GCA group’s policy is to ensure that the maturity profile -
does not impose an excessive strain on its ability to repay loans. Under this policy, no more than 20% of the prlnupal of GCA
group borrowings of £4,224 million (2023: £4 135 mllllon) can fall due in any 24 month period.

Liquidity rlsk ) . co
The GCA group maintains committed bankmg facnlmes in order to provide flexibility in the management of its hqmdrty Under
the Common Terms Agreement which governs obligations to bondholders and other financial creditors, the GCA group is
requnred to have cash available to fund operanons for 12 months.

As at 31 March 2024, the GCA group had,committed undrawn borrowmg facilities of £320 million (2023: £200 million) and -
cash and cash equivalents (excluding debt service payments account) of £147 million (2023: £363 million). There is also a £10
million overdraft facility renewable on an annual basis.

As at 31 March 2024 there was also a special liquidity facility of £135 million (2023: £135 million); this is required in order to
meet certain interest and other obligations that may not be funded through operating cash flow in the event of a standstill
being declared by the Security Trustee, following an event of default under the GCA group’s debt financing covenants. The
facility has been provided by an insurance provider and is renewable on a rolling five-year evergreen basis.

Capital risk !

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern. Given the regulatory
environment in which the Group operates, capltal is monitored on the basis of the gearing ratio. This is calculated as net debt
(as defined in borrowing covenants) as a proportion of the Company’s Regulatory Capital Value as determined by Ofwat and
linked to the movements in the Consumer Prices Index (CPIH) and the Retail Prices Indéx (RPI) As at 31 March 2024 the
measure of regulatory gearing was 60% (2023: 58%).

in respect of the risks detailed aboye, further quantitative disclosures are provided in note 15.

Critical accounting estimates and judgemenfs

The preparation of financial statements conforming to IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount,
event or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates.

Provision for |mpa|rment of trade recelvables

Collective impairment losses on receivables with similar credit risk are calculated using a statlstlcal model. Management use
standardised collection rates as observed over the preceding three years to determlne the level of bad debts. These are as
follows: : :

Measured debt based on l\istorical data:’
e 100% of debt not recovéred for a period of over two Years old;
e  9%% }of debt batween 1-2 years; and_
s 5% of debt less than a year old. '

Unmeasured debt based on historical data:
e 100% of debt not recovered for a period of over two years old;
e 99% of debt between 1-2 years; and
e 8% of debt lesa than a year old.

Accounting estimate - The probability: of failing to recover a debt is based on expected credit loss, determined by past
experience, as shown in the bullet points above, and expected future movements in collection rates, adjusted for changes in
external factors {including the estimated impact of the current affordability crisis impacting UK households). The accuracy of
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the impairment calculation would therefore be affected by unexpected changes to the economic situation, and to changes in .
customer behaviour. The key sensitivity assumptions used in the provisioning process are as follows:

e . A £2 million increase in the provision, equivalent to 1% deterioration in cash collection rates, providing for the
current economic situation; and :

e 90% of charging orders will be recovered in future periods based on historic trend.

To the extent that the failure to recover debts in arrears alters by 1%, the provmon for impairment would increase or decrease )
by £2.0 million (2023: £2.0 million).

Pension benefits

The present value of the pension obllgatlons is dependent on the actuarial calculation, which ‘includes a number of
assumptions. The key assumptions are the discount rate, price inflation, salary increases and mortality rates, which are used
to calculate the present value of the estimated future cash outflows that will be required to meet the pension obligations. In
determining the discount rate to use, the Group considers market ylelds of high-quality corporate bonds, denominated in
sterling, that have time to maturity approximating the terms of the pension liability. Were this discount rate to reduce or
increase by 0.1%, the carrying value of the pension-obligations as at 31 March 2024 would increase or reduce by £5.0 million
(2023: £5.7 million). It should be noted that actual rates may differ from the assumptions used due to changing market and
economic conditions and longer or shorter lives of participants and, as such, this represents a key source of estimation
uncertainty. Sensitivities in respect of the assumptions used durﬁng the year are disclosed in note 21.

If the scheme’s assets underperform relative to the discount rate used to calculate the liabilities, this will increase the value

) of the projected deficit. With the exception of cash, assets consist of pooled investment funds, alternative strategy funds and

property funds which are not quoted on an active market. Of total assets amounting to £420.0 million {2023: £412.1 miliion),
assets with a fair value of £113.4 million (2023: £114.8 million) are Level 3 financial assets; these are considered to be the
least liquid and hardest to value and are therefore subject to a higher degree of estimation. The fair value of these assets has
been ‘estimated based on the latest available observable prices, updated with reference to movements in ‘co'mparable
observable indices to the reporting date, and adjusted for judgements to reflect differences in the liquidity and credit
components of the asset pricing. A 5% movement in the fair value of these Level 3 financial assets would increase or decrease
the overall carrying value of the pension asset by £5.7m (2023: £5.7 million). :

The mortality assumption used to calculate the present value of the pension obligations is broken down into two distinct
parts. Firstly, current mortality rates (base table), and secondly, how these rates ;hbuld allow for future improvements. For
the present value calculation, the S3PxA base tables have been used, adjusted for weightings of 101% for males and 104%
for females, with improvementsiin line with the CMI 2022 projection model, with a long-term trend rate of 1.0% p.a. The CMI
model is used by UK pension schemes and insurance companies which need to make assumptlons about future mortality
rates.

Accounting for leakage and per capita consumption restatement

As reported in FY 23 the Group proposed a customer redress package totalling £29 million to address the restatement of the
Group’s leakage and per capita consumption performance. In March 2024 Ofwat concluded their investigaiion into “Welsh
Water leakage performance”, accepting the proposed package.

Accounting judgement: The Group has applied judgement to the structure of thg package, splitting the redress between
immediate customer rebate and foregoing future RCV: Customer rebates of £15 million have been defrayed in full in FY 24
and also will forego £14 million for the RCV uplift at PR24.

A provision is not recognised at 31 March 2024 for the £14m redress element as it represents lower expected prices to be
charged to customers to be agreed at a future date through the regulatory mechanism. Under the regulatory mechanism for
PR24, the Group is entitled to recover regulatory overspend for FY 21 and FY 22 that is attributable to leakage expenditure,
but the Group will not take this into account in the RCV uplift'on 1 April 2025. : '

Fair Value Estimation
In accordance with IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement tradmg and treasury derlvatlves of the Company are categonsed into
different levels:

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadquted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
- Level 2; inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
dlrectly (prices) or mdnrectly (denved from prices).
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- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability not based on observable market data.

All of the Company’s treasury derivatives are categorised as Level 2. In accordance with IFRS 13 an adjustment factor has
been applied to the swaps based on industry standard practice to take into account credit risk by estimating future cash flows
based on applicable interest rate curves. Projected cash flows are then discounted back using discount factors which are
derived from the applicable interest rate curves adjusted for management’s estimate of counterparty and own credit risk,
where appropriate.

Trading derivatives, relating to power price hedges, are categorised as Level 2 where marked-to-market valuations are
received for these trades. Where marked-to-market valuations are not received the fair values are estimated rather than
observable, and are therefore categorised as Level 3.

At 31 March 2024 the fair values of derivatives were as follows:

Level 2: Asséts: Trading derivatives £1.2 million, Treasury derivatives £nil million (March 2023: Trading derivatives £9.9
million, Treasury derivatives £nil). : :

Liabilities: Trading derivatives £nil, Treasury derivatives £46.6 million {March 2023: Trading derivatives nil, Treasury
derivatives £76.6 million).

Trading derivatives relate to power hedges. Treasury derivatives relate to interest rate swap contracts. All derivatives are
recorded on the.balance sheet at fair value.

Level 2 debt investments are valued using a discounted cash flow approach, which discounts the contractual cash flows using
discount rates derived from observable market prices of other quoted debt instruments of the counterparties.

Capitalisation

There is a high degree of judgement involved in determining whether costs, both initial and subsequent expenditure,
including employee and other internal expenditure on both infrastructure and non-infrastructure assets meet the relevant
criteria for capitalisation (directly attributable to the asset, provide probable economic benefit and can be measured reliably)
and therefore are included in the valuation of property, plant and equipment, or alternatively should be expensed
immediately. We capitalise expenditure relating to employee costs on both a direct and an indirect basis, through the use of
timesheets and estimation of overhead costs that is attributabie to a capital project, which is reviewed at a minimum annually.
Were our capitalisation percentage to increase or decrease by 5% this would result in a financial impact of £9.3m, based on
total employment costs. This is monitored continually through a process of capital programme cost challenge and operating
cost scrutiny, complemented by a third-party analysis of the capital programme breakdown between maintenance costs
charged to the income statement and property, plant and equipment additions to~the balance sheet.

Useful economic life impact on depreciation

The estimated useful economic lives of Property, plant and eqmpment (PPE) and mtanglble assets is based on management’s
experience. When management identifies that actual useful economic lives differ materially from the estimates used to
calculate depreciation; that charge is adjusted prospectively. Due to the significance of PPE and intangibles investment to the
Company, variations between actual and estimated useful economic lives could impact operating results both positively and
negatively. As such, this is a key source of estimation uncertainty. The depreciation and amortisation expense for the year
was £385.6 million. A 10 per cent increase in average asset lives would have resulted in a £31.5 million reduction in this figure
and a 10 per cent decrease in average asset lives would have resulted in a £34.6 million increase in this figure.

Climate change

The natural environment within which the Company operates is constantly changlng, and this influences how its water and
wastewater services are to be delivered in the future. The Company has embedded ambitious climate-related targets within
its strategic goals, affecting the portfolio of assets required in its operations to deliver such services. We have conducted a
high-level review, in line with our TCFD disclosures, for potential impacts of climate change and environmental legislation or
the Company’s decarbonisation measures predominantly in respect of the valuation of the property, plant and equipment
held by the Company and provisions or contingent liabilities. No amendmerits were considered necessary in the financial
statements this year with further analysis to be conducted throughout the new financial year. We will review the impact of
climate change on the financial statements annually upon further information becoming available.

The Company will continuously look to further enhance the accuracy of its useful life assessment through the introduction of
more forward-looking information in asset life reviews. The Company will continue to mitigate the exposure that the carrying
value of its book asset base has to climate-related risks through strategic planning activities that incorporate defined climate
scenarios, climate change mitigation pledges, and long-term climate projections. The Company installs permanent flood
defences and other resilience measures at the most vulnerable facilities to protect its assets.
: |
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Income from connections to the water and sewerage network

The Company receives income from developers for new connections to the water and’ sewerage networks in the form of
adopted infrastructure assets. In assessing this income, we have Judged the contract to be outside the scope of IFRS 15 and
therefore recognised a deferred income balance at the fair value of the assets adopted which is released to the income
statement to reduce the depreciation of the associated assets to which the relate. Any connection charges to developers or
domestic customers for new connections to the network are recognised immediately in revenue on completion of the new
connection as that is judged-to be the performance obligation under IFRS 15.

Restatement
The balance sheet comparators for 31 March 2023 have been restated for the presentation of derivative financial
instruments. Derivative financial instruments are now presented as a single unit of account, whereas previously multiple units
of account were applied to each instrument. This has resulted in changes to derivatives in the balance sheet as follows:

e non-current assets — decrease of £7.0 million ‘ )

e current assets — decrease of £6.9 million

e current liabilities — decrease of £15.6 million

e non-current liabilities increase of £1.7 million

There is-no impact on the total balance of derivative financial instruments or on net assets.

The consolidated income statement and consolidated cashflow statement (see changes in accounting policies) for the year
‘to 31 March 2023 have been restated for the presentation of financial expenses, with £20.9 million now disclosed”as
settlement accruing on derivative financial instruments as an element of the fair value gain on derivatives rather than being
included in the financial expenses heading. There is no impact on total financial expenses, the loss for the year, or net cashflow
for the year.’

2. Revenue

The Directors consider that there is only one operating segment, being the operation of water and sewerage business (and
peripheral commercial activities) in the UK. As the Company has only domestic activities there is also only one geographical
segment; therefore, the disclosures for this segment have also already been given in these financial statements. The DWwr -
.Cymru Executive is the Group’s chief operating decision maker with reports provided to it on this basis.

While the Company operates in a single segment, its acti\}ities can be disaggregated into the following principal income
streams:

2024 2023

£m . £m
Regulated revenue ) o
Water - 374.2 3306
Sewerage : ' ) o 495.6 457.3
Retail : 46.8 469
Total regulated revenue . . '91(‘5.6 834.8
Other (hon-regulated) ' 7.8 6.5

Total revenue . ’ 924.4 841.3

Regulated revenue relates to the provision of water, sewerage and related retail services operating under DWr Cymru
Cyfyngedig’s licence as part of the water industry and England and Wales, regulated by The Office of Water Trading (Ofwat).

Other (non regulated) revenue relates to income streams which are not SUb]ECt to Ofwat’s. price control; these principally
comprise organic energy generation and certain other activities which are penpheral and/or complementary to the
Company’s core water and sewerage business. .

On 25 May 2023, Ofwat launched an investigation into Welsh Water’s reporting of leakage and PCC and on 31 May 2023
served a $203 Notice under the Water Industry Act 1991 requiring further information from the Company. As reported in FY
23 the Group proposed a customer redress package totalling £29 million, accepted by Ofwat when their investigation was
concluded in March 2024. As part of this package Customer rebates of £15 million were provided for at 31 March 2023 and
recognised within the FY 23 Water income stream. The rebates have been defrayed in full during FY 24.
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3. Operating profit/(loss)

The following items have been included in arrivihg at the operating profit/(loss):

2024 2023
. £m £m
Operating expenditure ) .
Power : - 764 - 74.3
Chemicals : : ' 22.7 ) 219
Materials and equipment . 9.6 ’ 9.6
Vehicles and plant ' 5.9 ; 6.6
. Office expenses . ’ . 67 . . 59
Property costs . ) 3.8 " 35
" Insurance ) ) . 7.5 : 6.6
Water and Sewerage contractors ' - . . 12.3 27.1
Laboratories and analytical services . 1.7 1.4
Collection commissions . - ) 15 1.9
IT contracts o 17.3 ‘149
Bought-in services and other costs’ - 53.8 51.0
: 2189 2247
Employee costs (note 20). o N : 193.7 185.0
Staff costs capitalised or classified as infrastructure renewals expenditure (88.0) ) (79.1)
105.7 . 105.9
Research and development credit ) (0.5) (0.5)
Rates - : C : 263 - 27.0
- Natural Resources Wales/Enwronment Agency charges . ’ . 17.2 16.3
-Fees payable to auditors 0.8 0.7 -
Total operationat expenditure - ’ 368.4 3741
‘Impairment of trade and other-receivables — ‘ 28.3 . 24.8
‘Other operating income : (5.2) {5.3)
Exceptional items L S ] C - - 308
Infrastructure renewals expenditure ) 101.3 78.0
Depreciation and amortisation . L
- Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3284 318.4
- Release-of deferred income - ) ’ 148 . (12.4)
) . ) . , ’ ’ : 424 39.6
- Amortisation of intangible assets ) )
Total depreciation and amortisation ~ . : . 385.6 345.6
Total operating costs . ‘ 878.4 848.0

"The Company incurred insignificant expenses relating to short-term leases, leases of low-value dssets or variable lease
payments in 2024 and 2023.

Staff costs in the year of £3.6 million (2023: £nil) have been classified to infrastructure renewals expenditure.
Other operating income principally comprises income from the export of internally generated gas.
Release of deferred income relates to the income recognised on assets adopted by the Group at nil cost where the assets are

initially recognised at fair value within fixed assets and deprec»ated over their useful economic life with a correspondlng
balance in deferred income. :
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3. Operating profit (continued)

Exports of renewable electricit\} is included within power costs as it is treated as a natural hedge to our consumption. Our
energy strategy is to enter into contracts which fix the price of consumption:less exports of future power pu‘rchases in order
“to reduce the lmpact of power price variances. During the year, consumptlon charges amounted to £83.4 mllllon (2023 £82.6
mllllon) and we exported £8.4m (2023: £15.0 million).

Services provnded by the Company’s auditors

Duri'ng.thé year the Group headed by Glas Cymru 'Holdings obtained the following services fl;om its-auditors; £737,000 was
paid by OWr Cymru Cyfyngedig whilst the remainder were paid by the subsidiaries in the Welsh Water Holdings Limited group:

_ o 2024 2023

Audit fees _ < ) -£000 £000
Audit of parent company and consolidated financial statements ) . ’ 61 ’ 68

’ Audit of subsidiary companies S ’ 516 : 467
Total audit fees : 577 535
Audit-related assurance services . . . 106 111
‘Other assurance services ) ’ ' - 141 71

Total cost of services provided by the Group’s Auditors B : 824 . 717
Regula'toryvaudit services include audit jlvork in respect of regulatory requiremenfs: the Annual Performance Report.

-The Board has adbbted a formal policy with réspect to services received from extérnal auditors. All non-audit work will be
subject to prior competitive tendering or approval by the Audit Committee.

Exceptlonal item
There were no exceptional items in the year to 31 March 2024. In the year to 31 March 2023 we recogmsed an exceptional
. itém totalling £30.8 million. This item represents award of pension increases above a 5% cap. Under a ‘best endeavours’
clause in our pension scheme rules full RPI increases could only be awarded if certain criteria were met.’ In FY 23 scheme
awards.above a 5% cap had been pald by the pension scheme and, as the scheme was now in surplus, these conditions were
expected to be paid in the future. Therefore, the expense in FY 23 represents the additional awards given. In the future it is
expected that changes to this assumption will be presented in Other Comprehensive income as required under IAS19. This
was disclosed as exceptional in FY23 as the accounting treatment of these increases through the profit and loss account would
only occur this year, was of a significant value, and did not closely reflect day-to-day operational expenditure. For the
avoidance of doubt management will make consideration of the ‘best endeavours’ clause in all future periods and as such
any movement in estimate will be presented as Other Comprehensive Income as required under IAS18.
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4 Financing costs

2023

2024 - Restated

£m fm

Interest on investments ’ . : 19.7 14.7
Net mterest received on pension scheme assets ) 0.7 ) -
Financialincome - . . ’ 20.4 14.7.
Interest payable on loans . . ’ . (317.3) - (452.2)
Interest payable on leases - : (29.0) ' (16.3)
Other interest payable and financial costs . . (31.7) : (42.9)
- :Net interest charge on pénsion scheme liabilities ’ : o : - (2.1)-
. Capitalisation of borrowing costs under I1AS 23 ) 18.6 . 28.3

Financial expenses before fair value gams/(losses) on derivative f‘nancral C '

instruments ) (359.4) . (485.2)
Settlements accruing on denvatrve financial instruments 374 ’ (20.9)
Fair value (losses)/gains on interest rate swaps . 4.3 32.1
Fair value gains on index-linked swaps . 218 112.4
Fair value (losses) on trading derivatives ) : o (8.7) (29.1)
Fair value gains on derivative financial instruments S ) 548 : 94.5
Net finance cost ’ ) 4 - .(284.2) . . (376.0)

The comparators for financial expenses and fair value gains on derivative ﬁnanual instruments in the year have been restated Financial
expenses have reduced by £20.9m with a correspondrng decrease in fair value gains on denvatrves There is no impact on the loss for the
year. More information is available under note 1 to these financial statements.

Included within financial expenses are e amounts payable to group undertaklngs of £181.4 mrllron (2023 £223. 7 million).

Derivative financial instruments are held for economic hedglng purposes although they do not qualrfy as‘accounting hedges.
Consequently, the Group’s interest rate and index-linked swaps are fair valued at each balance sheet date with the net loss
or gain disclosed in the income statement. Over the life of these swaps, if held to maturity, these fair value adjustments will
reverse and reduce to zero. (See note 14 in respect of derivative financial instruments recognised on the balance sheet.)

" Interest rate swap movements are caused by fluctuations in Iong-term swap rates, while the index- Irnked swap movements
result from fluctuations in the value of index-linked gilts.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

5; Taxation

Analysis of tax credit in the year: . .
’ 2024 - 2023

fm . " £m
Current tax _
- Current tax on loss for the year 0.1
- Current tax on research and development crédit ) - (0.1)
- Adjustment in respect of prior years . - ) 0.2
Total currenttax - ' : 0.1 . 0.1.
Deferred tax )
- Origination and reversal of timing differences ’ 55.2 : 89.4
- Adjustment in respect of prior years 1.4 - (6.4)
Total deferred tax credit (note 6) ) 56.6 83.0

Taxation credit . . . . 56.7 83.1

Current tax is corporation tax which is payable on a company's profit or loss adjusted for tax purposes, and is only charged
where a taxable profit arises after these tax adjustments - see current tax reconciliation. Current taxes in respect of prior
years of £0.1 million {2023: £0.2 million) relate to tax credits for R&D and the remediation of contaminated land:

The deferred tax credit in respect of prior years has arisen from the identification of an additional plant and machinery
expenditure which was eligible for a 130% super-deduction when the 2023 corporation tax computation was finalised. The
2023 comparative includes a prior year deferred tax charge of £7.0 million resulting from changes to the valuation of inflation
linked swaps which arose that year. These had previously been expected to reverse after March 2023 when the corporation
tax rate would be 25% rather than 19%. However, as they reversed in 2023, when the tax rate was 19%, an additional charge
of £7.0 million was disclosed as a prior year item as it related to a change in an estimate made at 31 March 2022. The 'super-
deduction’ regime for plant and machinery’ expendlture ended on 31 March 2023. Therefore, there is no tax credit in the
current period.

In December 2021, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) released model rules for a new
global minimum corporate tax framework applicable to multinational enterprise groups with global revenues exceeding
€750m (‘Pillar Two' ). The BEPS Pillar Two Minimum Tax legislation'was substantively enacted in June 2023 in the UK and will
be effective for the Company'’s financial year beginning 1 April 2024. The Company has applied the mandatory temporary
exception under IAS 12 in relanon to the accounting for deferred taxes arising from the-implementation of the Pillar Two
rules. The Company has assessed its potential exposure to Pillar Two income taxes and the new rules are not expected to
have a material impact on the tax charge for the Company. :

Deferred taxes have been calculated at 25% (2023: 25%).

The effective rate of tax for the year is lower (2023: higher) than the standard rate of corporatlon tax in the UK of 25% (2023:
19%). The differences are explained below:

. . 2024 2023
Total tax reconciliation ‘ fm - £m
Loss befare tax o © . (237.9) (382.3) -

Loss before tax multiplied by the corporation tax rate in the UK of 25% S
(2023: 19%) 59.5 726
Difference in standard. rate of corporation tax (25%) and rate used to

calculated deferred taxes (19%) ) 166
Effect of: .
Adjustments in respect of prior years } 14 B (6.2)

. Depreciation charged on non-qualifying assets ' (3.3) (2.5)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes . (0.9) (0.2)
130% super deduction for plant and machinery ’ - : 2.8 -
Taxation ' . 56.7 '83.1
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5. Taxation (continued)

Current tax reconciliation
‘The table below reconciles the notional tax charge at the UK corporation tax rate to the total current tax charge for the
year.

2024 2023

- ' £m ] £m
Loss before tax . ) . (237.9) © (382.3)
Expected tax charge 25% (2023: 19%) o 59.5 72.6
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances (62.7) . (34.6)
Pension costs in excess of payments 0.2 (6.2)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes - . {0.2) . (0.2)
" Environmental non-compliance fine — disallowed . . (0.5) -
Fair value movements in derivatives - non taxable 5.3 219
IFRIC 18 - release of income not taxable ' : (3.5) 23
Movement.in provisions deductible when paid ' 0.5 - 03
- Capitalised interest - tax deductible when capitalised | . 4.7 5.4
R&D Expenditure Credits taxed in prior years ) - . 0.1
Adjustments in respect of prior years . : - 0.2
Tax losses carried forward ) ) (3.2) (61.7)

Total current taxation : ] 0.1 - 0.1

The Company invests. heavily in capital expenditure and is therefore able to claim tax relief in the form of capital allowances,
a Government tax relief which aims to stimulate this type of investment. As the Company has no shareholders the surpluses
it generates help keep water bills down and aré also reinvested to improve the quality of services to customers, rather than
being paid to shareholders as dividends. This reinvestment is often in the form of capital expenditure which attracts further
capital allowances. As a result of the Company’s profit forecasts and the capital allowances it is able to claim, the Company
does not expect to pay corporation tax during AMP 8 (2026 - 2030)."

The most significant factor impacting the Company's current tax charge is the difference between depreciation charged on
property, plant and equipment in the financial statements and the tax relief claimed for this expenditure (capital allowances).
Deferred taxes are recognised on the temporary difference between the carrying amount of the fixed assets in the accounts
and the amount that will be deductible for tax purposes in future years. Depreciation exceeds the claim for capital allowances
as the company is able to determine the amount of capital allowances it claims during each period in accordance with the tax
legislation. Capital allowances have not been fully claimed this year, or in the prior period.

" Treasury derivative financial instruments are carried at their fair value. Fair value gains and losses {excluding payments and
receipts) arising between balance sheet dates are recognised in the income statement but are not subject to corporation tax.
Deferred taxes are recognised on the temporary difference which is equal to the net fair value of the derivatives in the
financial statements less the amounts which have been deducted for tax purposes.

The company has elected to be treated as a 'qualifying infrastructure company' under the Public Benefit Infrastructure
Exemption provided for within the corporate interest restriction legislation. As a result there is no interest restriction for the
current period (2023: £nil).
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6. Deferred tax

. Deferred tax is célculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%). -

_ The movement in the deferred tax provision is as shown below: : -

: ’ ) : ' 2024 2023

2 : : : ) £m ) £m

At 1 April T . ' 793.4 697.0

(Crédit) to Income. Statement (56.6) . (831)

Charge to statement of comprehensive income in respect of the ) -

revaluation of fixed assets . - 35.4 148.4
Charge to statement of comprehensnve income in respect of actuanal )

gains on pension benefits . 6.6 31.1

At 31 March : ' . 778 8 7934

Deferred tax liabilities at 31 March 2024 are disclosed on the balance sheet as £768.3 m|II|on deferred tax liabilities and £10.5

mllluon set against the pensmn scheme surplus under nori-current assets. ' . o~

. 2024 2023 .
Effect of: ) . . £m £m
Tax allowances in excess of deprecnatlon : i : . 3105 3294
Deferred tax on revaluation of fixed assets : ’ 567.2 .. 5658
Capital gains rolled over ' ' 4.0 . 4.0
Deferred tax liability : ’ 881.7 899.2
Deferred tax on tax losses c/f ‘ . . - (100.5) (90.7)
Deferred tax on losses on derivative financial instruments ) {11.3) . (16.6)
Pensions . 10.5 3.7
Other tax differences o (1.6) (2.2) .

Net deferred tax . ’ ' 778.8 793.4 .

y ] . . . .
An analysis of the movements in the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the company is Set out below:

Accelerated tax Pensions Tax losses Other Total
depreciation -

' ) ’ £m £m . £m £m £m
At 1 April 2022 770.1 "(19.3) -~ (5.9) (47.9) 697.0
Charge/(credit) to income ) (19.3) (8.1) (84.8) 29.1 (83.1)
Charge/(credit) to equity 148.4 311 - - 179.5
At 1 April 2023 . 899.2 3.7 (90:7) (18.8) 793.4
Charge/(credit) to income - . (52.9) 0.2 (9.8) 5.9 - {56.6)
Charge/(credit) to equity 35.4 6.6 - - 42.0
At 31 March 2024 ) B 881.7 10.5 (100.5) (12.9) . 778.8

Deferred taxes have been recognised on the temporary difference between the carrying amount of the fixed assets in the
accounts and the amounts that will be deductible for tax purposes (capital allowances) in future years. As capital
allowances have exceeded the depreciation charged on the fixed assets to date there is a deferred tax liability of £310.5
million at the balance sheet date (2023: £329.4 million).

A deferred tax liability of £567.2 million (2023: £565.8 million) has also been recognised in relatioh to revaluation surpluses
arising from revaluing fixed assets to reflect Ofwat’s ‘shadow regulatory capital value’. The associated deferred tax chargeis
charged to the revaluation reserve.

A deferred tax liability of £10.5 million (2023: £3.7 million) has been recognised in relation to the surplus on the pension
scheme = see note 21. : : :

~ The company had tax losses of £401.7 million carried forward at 31 March 2024 (2023: £362.6 rhillion). )
Deferred tax assets have been recoghised in respect of all tax losses and temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax

assets because it is probable that these assets will be recovered. These deferred tax assets will be recovered against the
deferred tax liabilities in relation to fixed assets which will reverse in the same periods. . . .
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6. Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax has not been providéd on £133.0 million of chargeable gains which have been rolled over where the new asset
has been classified as operational structures e.g. concrete tanks. These assets are typically demolished or scrapped at the
end of their useful economic life and therefore we do not expect a chargeable gain will arise in the future. If deferred tax
were recognised in respect of these gains, then the deferred tax liability at 31 March 2024 would increase by £33.3 million
(2023: £33.3 million) being the rolled over gain multiplied by the rate used to calculate deferred taxes of 25% (2023: 25%).

7. Revaluation reserve

The economic value of the company’s water and sewerage busmess is derived from the Regulatory Capital Value (RCV) set. by
Ofwat during its five yearly price reviews. The company considers that a fair value approach to valuing its assets better reflects
the underlying value of the assets than historical cost accounting which understates the assets’ current value in use.

-As at 31 March 2024 the total value of tangible and intangible fixed assets for Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig has been revalued to
the-Company’s ‘shadow RCV’, being the 31 March 2024 RCV published by Ofwat in its PR19 Final determination as adjusted
for the impact of any totex over/underspend and the Outcome Delivery Incentive rewards/penalties. The classes of asset
impacted are infrastructure assets and operatlonal structures

‘The carrying value of dssets is reviewed for |mpa|rment if c1rcumstances dlctate that the carrymg value may not be
recoverable, asset lines and residual values are reviewed annually.

-

: , ) 2024 © - 2023
Revaluation reserve movement : £m . . -Em
Revaluation reserve as at 1 April - ' ’ : ' : 1,267.0 914.7

. Revaluation of assets to RCV - , 141.8 593.4
Depreciation charge on revalued assets o . . {136.3) (114.5])

: ’ ' 5.5 : 4789
Deferred tax on revaluation - I _ . (35.4) ' (148.4)
Deferred tax on depreciation charge : . o . 341 21.8

’ : (1.3) (126.6)

Revaluation reserve as at 31 March . " .1,271.2 1,267.0
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8. Property, plant and equipment

. o . Plant,
\ ‘Freehold o equipment,
. - land and Infrastructure " Operational computer
‘Current year buildings s assets s structures hardware Total
£m £fm £m .- £m : .. fm
Cost or valuation . ‘ ' : ) .
Atl April2023 . . 420 3,445.4 : 5,106.6 278.8 8,872.8
Revaluation . - 5.1 _ - - .51
Additions net of grants and ) ) 241.9 . 2713 2.9 520.9
contributions . .
\ Disposal : - - - . ‘(2.5) (2:5)
At 31 March 2024 - 420 - - 36924 5,377.9 284.0 9,396.3
‘ L. ; -
Accumulated depreciation : ) . :
At 1 April 2023 ! 25.2 B - 1,615.0 . 2734 ¢ 1,913.6
Revaluation - ) Co- {51.8) . (84.9) - (136.7)
Charge fortheyear = - 0.7 51.8 . 2728 31 . 3284
Released on disposal ) T . - . - - (2.5) (2.5)
At 31 March 2024 - 259 - 1,8029 - 274.0 2,102.8
Net book value
. At31 March 2024 16.1 3,692.4 3,575.0 © 100 7,2935
2:53”1 March 2024 (historic 161 . 2,4431 2,505.6 10.0 4,974.8

Thé net book value of property, plant and equipment includes £230.6 million in respect of assets in the course of
construction (2023: £343.3 million) and £113.2 million of borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with IAS 23
(2023: £118.0 million), of which £16.7 million were additions in the year (2023: £25.1 million). ’

The net book value of freehold land and buildings mcludes £15 9 mllllon in. respect of land, which is not depreciated (2023
£15.9 million).
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8. Property, plant and equipment (contihued)

Plant,
Freehold . equipment,
L land and Infrastructure Operational computer
Prior year buildings assets structures hardware . Total,
. . Em £m £m £m fm
" Cost or valuation ,
At 1 April 2022 42.6 3,029.5 48916 281.4 . 8,245.1
Revaluation - 210.8 - - 210.8
Addlt.tons.net of grants and . A 205.1 . 215‘_0 01 4202
contributions . )
Disposal (0.6) - - (2.7) (3.3)
At 31 March 2023 420 3,445.4 5,106.6 278.8 8,872.8
Accumulated depreciation )
At 1 April 2022 : . 25.0 - .1,682.7 2733 1,981.0
Revaluation ) - (71.7) (310.9) - (382.6)
Charge for the year ~ 0.8 71.7 243.2 2.7 318.4
Released on disposal (0.6) - - (2.6) (3.2)
At 31 March 2023 : 25.2 - 1,615.0 273.4 1,913.6
Net book value
At 31 March 2023 16.8 3,445.4. 3,4916 5.4 6,959.2
At 31 March 2023 fhistoric 16.8 2,275.9 2,397.9 54 4,696.0
cost)
Right—of-_use aSsets
included within the above are right-of-use assets as analysed below:
Infrastructure Operational
Company - 2024 assets structures Total
£m £m £m -
Net book value at 1 April 2023 684.6 Q.l 684.7
Disposal (269.3) - (269.3).
Revaluation 20.8 - - 20.8
Depreciation charge for the year (39.3) - (39.4)
Net book value at 31 March 2024 ) 396.7 0.1 396.8
Net book value at 31 March 2024 (historical cost basis) 265.1 0.1 " 265.2
Infrastructure - Operational .
assets structures Total
Company - 2023 £m £m £m
Net book value at 1 April 2022 657.0 26.4 , 683.4
Disposal. - (26.9) (26.9)
Revaluation 816 34 85.0
Depreciation charge for the year (54.0) (2.8) (56.8)
Net book value at 31 March 2023 684.6 0.1 684.7 -
Net book value at 31 March 2023 (historical cost basis) 452.2 0.1. 452.3 -

s

/ ) . -
The disposal of £269.3 million {2023: £26.9 million) represents the termination of lease arrangements, with the Company

retaining ownership of the underlying assets.

The Company'’s leases are principally made up of water and sewerage treatment infrastructure assets and equipment in

order to carry out its operations.

~.
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9. Intangible assets

Net book

. ) Cost Amortisation value

Current year T ' . £m C £m ’ £m
At 1 April 2023 , 538.1 . (335.9) 202.2
Additions/(charge for the year)- . ) '41.2 (42.4) (1.2)
At 31 March 2024 : 579.3 : (378.3) : 201.0
. - Net book

: Cost Amortisation value

Prior year £m £m ! : £m
At 1 April 2022 : 499.5 (296.3) 2032
Additions/{charge for the year) ) 38.6 ’ (39.6) (1.0)

At 31 March 2023 , ) 538.1 (335.9) .202.2

Intangible assets principally comprise computer software and related system developmenfs.

The net book value of intangible assets includes £42.1 million in respect of assets in the course of construction (2023: £33.0
million). ’ .

The net book value of intangible assets includes £13.3 million of borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with (AS 23 (2023:
£12.6 million) of which £1.9 million were additions in the year (2023: £3.1 million).

10. Trade and other receivables

Restated
2024 2023
fm fm
Current ) : )

" Trade receivables : ) §59.2 604.4
Less provision for |mpa|rment of receivables - ) (84.2) . (80.7)
Trade receivables - net ' o ' 475.0 523.7
Amounts receivable from group undertaklngs ' ’ 13 i C -
Prepayments C ) ‘ . - 135 21.0
Accrued income . ' 98.7 87.5

. Other receivables ' 56.4 - 15.0
644.9 647.2

Non-current .
Other receivables ' o 1.6 -
Total trade and other receivables - ' . '646.5 647.2

The prior year comparatives have-been restated to show trade receivables subject to charging orders gross within trade
receivables rather than as a reduction to the provision for impairment. The impact of the change was to increase trade
receivables by £7.4 miillion with a correspondipg increase in provision for impairment. There is no impact on net trade

' receivables.

All non-current receivables are due within five years from the balance sheet date.

As-at 31 March 2024, based on a review of historical collection rates it was considered that £84.2 million {2023: £80.7 million)
of trade receivables were impaired and these have therefore been provided for. The impaired receivables relate mainly to
the measured and unmeasured supply of water and sewerage services. Trade receivables aged greater than one month are
past due; the net column shows amounts deemed not to be impaired.
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10. Trade and other receivables (continued)
The ageing of receivables was as follows: -.

Current year
Trade receivables

Billings in advance
Under one month
Between one and six months

. Between six months and one year
Between one and two years
Between two and three years
Over three years

N .
Prior year )
Trade receivables

Billings in advance

Under one month

Between one and six months
Between six months and one year
Between one and two years
Between two and three years
Over thre/e years

- Movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

- At1April .
Charge to income statement

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable

At 31 March

Provided
Total - for Net
£m £m £fm.
362.6 - 362.6
26.7 1.7) 25.0
47.2 (3.0) 44.2
315 (2.0) 29.5
36.3 (33.1) - 3.2
24.5 " (23.3) 1.2
30.4 {21.1) 9.3
559.2 (84.2) 475.0

Provided
Total for Net
£m £m £m
408.1 - 408.1
23.2 (0.9} 22.3
40.2 (1.6) 38.6
28.1 (1.2) 26.9
42.5 (32.8) 9.7
264 - (24.2) 2.2
35.9 (20.0) 15.9-
604.4 (80.7) 523.7

2024 2023
£m £m .

80.7 77.0
27.6 23.7
(24.1) (20.0)

84.2

80.7

During the year the Company has written off £24.1 million of debt which had been provided for in full (2023: £20.0 million).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned above.

The majority of trade receivables relates to a large number of small customer bills-(household and hon-household),such that
Included within other receivables is £39.4m (2023: £14.2m) from one quasi-
represents contract assets in respect of timing differences between customer bills and

the concentration risk is deemed low.
governmental body. Accrued income
Group's year end.

The risk of impairment of other classes of trade and other receivables is very low. All trade and other receivables are

denominated in sterling.

The tables below illustrate the impact of applying the “expected loss” model in accordancé with IFRS 9. Debt provisio

based on historical experience as adjusted for certain forward-looking factors.
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10. Trade and other receivables (continued)

©2024

. Billed in advance’
<1 month

. 1>6 months

. 6 months > 1 year
1> 2 years
2>3years,
> 3 years

2023 restated

Billed in advance
<1 month

1> 6 months

6 months > 1 year
1> 2years

2 >3 years

>3 years

Historical
default rates
%

4.4%

_4.4%

4.4%
91.1%
95.2%

97.7%

Historical
default rates

% .

"3.9%
3.9%
3.9%

75.0%

89.5%

©71.2%

Forward-

looking
adjustment
%

1.9%

1.9%

- 1.9%

Forward-
looking
adjustment

Adjustment
total
%

6.3%
6.3%
6.3%
91.1%
95.2%
97.7%

Adjustment
total
%

6.1%
6.1%

6.1% .

75.0%
89.5%
71.2%

Forward-

Historical looking Total
impairment adjustment impairment
£m - £m £m
1.2 0.5 1.7
2.1 0.9 3.0
14 0.6 2.0
331 - 331 .
233 - " 233
21.1 - 21.1
82.2 2.0 84.2 .
Forward-
Historical looking Total
impairment adjustment ~  impairment
£m £m £m
0.9 - 0.5 14
1.6 0.9 © 25
1.1. 0.6 1.7
32.0 - - '32.0
236 - . 23.6
19.5 - 19.5
78.7 2.0 - 80.7

* The Fon/vard looking adjustment for 2023 has been restated to reflect recoverability of 90% charging order in historical

|mpa|rment

The Group holds around 7, 550 chargmg orders as collateral agalnst £12.5 million of debt (2023: 7,400 orders agamst £12

’ mllllon of debt).

The Company'’s trade receivables provisioning methodology incorporates an “expected loss” model which also determines
an appropriate level of losses against which to provide in the measured income accrual. The imgact on the accrual as at 31
March 2024 is £4.7m, being a revenue provisian of 5% against a gross balance of £94.2 million (2023: £4.1 million and 5%).

11. Cash and cash equivalengs

- Cash at bank and in hand

Short-term deposits

-2024 2023
£m £m
8.6 26.3

138.7 336.3

362.6

147.3

The effective interest rate on short-term deposits as at 31 March 2024 was 5.2% (2023: 3.5%) and these deposits had an
average maturity of 1 days (2023: 46 days). All cash and cash equivalents were held in sterling. .
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. 12.Trade and other payables

2024 2023

£m ) £m
Current . ) . :
Trade payables ) : ' ‘ ) : 60.6 . 64.2 -
Capital payables . ) - . 58.0 56.1
Social secunty and other taxes S 4.0 ‘3.6
Accruals - . o ' . . : 973 . - 140.6
Deferred income ‘ —_ : 4073 . 4205 .
S - ' 627.2 685.0
2024 2023
. " £m £m
Non-current ’
Accruals . 26.0 -
Deferred income ' ' 714.4 540.8
’ ’ 740.4 540.8
13. Other financial liabilities — borrowings _ o
: : . 2024 ' 2023
Current ’ ) o ’ -£m - . £m
Overdrawn funds ' - -
Interest accruals . ' : - 185 S 302
Loans due to group undertakings . ’ . . © 56.1 ' 19.4
Term loans - _ 72.6 : 44.0
Other unsecured loans ‘ - 0.2 o . 0.2-
Lease liabilities . _ S ' o 49.9 ‘ 0.9
' ' 197.3 94.7
2028 2023
Non-current ' S £m £m
Interest accruals . ) a1 20.1
Loans due to group undertakings ' ' o A3,890-.7‘ 3,554.8 -
Term loan ’ . : . 424.0 486.3
Lease liabilities : ’ ' 126.4 . 3172
: ' ' ' 4,445.2 . 44384

" Asecurity package was granted by Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig (DCC), as part of the Company’s bond programme for the benefit
of holders of senior bonds, finance fessors and other senior financial creditors. The obligations of DCC are guaranteed by the
Company, Glas Cymru (Securities) Cyfyngedig and DWr Cymru (Holdings) Limited. The main elements of the security package
are: ' . ) | : : A

i) a first fixed and floatlng security over aII of DCC’s assets and undertaklng, to the extent permitted by the Water
Industry Act, other applicable law and its licence; and

i) a fixed and floating security guven by the guarantars referred to above which are accrued on each of these
compames assets including, in the case of DWr Cymru (Holdings) Limited, a first fixed charge over its shares in DCC
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13 Other financial liabilities — borrowings (continued)

The'Group's Class A Bonds of £1,197 million {2023: £1,141 million) benefit from a guarantee from Assured Guaranty UK Ltd.

Assured Guaranty’s credit rating is graded as A1/AA by Moody’s, Standard and Poor’s and is not rated by Fitch. The credit

rating of the Class A bonds has therefore defaulted to the higher of the financial guarantor’s rating or the underlying rating

of these bonds of A1/AA/A from Moody’s, Standard and Poor’s and Fitch respectively. The underlying rating (A3/A-/A) reflects

the standalone credit quality of these bonds without the benefit of the guarantee from Assured Guaranty, and is the same as
the credit ratings of the Group’s Class B bonds of £1,576 million (2023: £1,517 million). -

The Group’s Class C bonds of £500 million (2023 £500 million) were rated Baa2/BBB/BBB+ by Moody s Standard & Poor’s and
Fitch respectively.

°

] All of the Group’s bonds are on’-lent from Dwr Cymru (Financing) UK Plc (DCF) to Dv’vr.CymrLl Cyfyngedig (DCC).

Terms loans of £496.6m relates to loans from EIB and KfW with a weighted average repayment period of 8.1 years of which
£217.4mis index linked and £279.2m floating, deriving an average interest rate of 6.22% in the year.

In May 2024 DCF agreed a new term loan with KfW for £125m with a committed term to 31 March 2029 with |nterest
payable at a rate of SONIA plus 1.15% paid semi- annuaIIy which has been on-lent to DCC.

14. Derivative financial mstruments

Derivative financial instruments are held for economic hedging purposes. However, they do not qualify as accounting hedges
and movements in their fair value are taken to the income statement (see note 4).

2024 . ’ Fair values
: o Assets - Liabilities
fm fm
Current . .
‘Power hedging swaps . . : : 1.2 -
: ‘ : 1.2 -
Non-current . '
Index-linked swaps - - (24.7)
Interest rate swaps (intercompany) - (21.9)
) - (46.6)
* Total ' ) 12 (46.6)
2023 - : Fair values
- s Assets Liabilities
Restated Restated
£m - £m
Current
Power hedging swaps ’ : 5.8 ’ -
’ ) 5.8 -
Non-current ' ) ) ) .
Index-linked swaps ) . . . - - (50.4)
* Interest rate swaps (intercompany) o . - (26.2)
. Power hedging swaps . 4.1 -
’ ’ 4.1 (76.6)
Total o ' ' 9.9 (76.6)

The comparators for derivative financial instruments assets and liabilities have been restated. There is no impact on overall total derivative
financial instruments. More information is available under note 1 to these financial statements.

The Company has reviewed all contracts for embedded derivatives that are required to be accounted for separately if they
do not meet certain requirements-set out in IFRS 9; the Company has no such embedded derlvatlves

One (2023: none) swap was terminated in the year with a términation payment of £3.9m (2023: nil) included within the
movement of fair value of derivatives in the income statement.
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Interest rate swaps

At 31 March 2024 an |nterest rate swap fixes the interest rate on £192 million (2023: £192 million) of floating liabilities held
‘by DWr Cymru (Financing) Limited and on-lent to_the company. The maturity date of the swap is 31 March 2031 and the
annual fixed interest rate is 5.67%, payable quarterly. . :

Index-linked swaps

The index-linked swaps have the effect of index-linking the interest rate on £176 million (2023 £378 million) of lease liabilities
by reference to the Retail Prices Index (RPI).

The notional amount of-index-linked swaps allocated to leases as at 31 March 2024 was £300 million {(2023: £384 million),
representing the average balance on the leases subject to floating interest rates for the year to 31 March 2024. The notional
amount amortises over the life of the swaps to match the average floating rate balances of the leases.

The principal terms of the index-linked swaps are as follows:

- Notional amount: £300 million amortising {(2023: £439 million amortising)

- Average swap maturity: 13 years (2023: 12 years)
- Average interest rate: 1.50% fixed plus RPI (2023: 1.60% fixed plus.RPI}

'

15. Financial risk management , . :
The policies of the Company in respect of financial risk management are included in the accounting polucues note on pages 31
and 32, The numerical financial instrument disclosures as required by IFRS 7 are set out below. .

a) Interest rate risk )
The effective interest rates at the balance sheet dates were as follows: ) : )
’ 2024 2023

Assets: ) .

Cash and cash equivalents . - 5.1% 3.9%
Liabilities: : o

Intercompany loans ' 4.9% 4.6%
Term loans : ) : 3.8% 3.0%
Other unsecured loans . . o . 4.6% 4.6%
Lease obligations C 6.6% 6.1%

Trade and other receivables and payables are non interest-bearing.

At 31 March 2024 an interest rate swap fixes the interest rate on £192 million (2023: £192 millibn) of floating liabilities held by
Dwr Cymru (Financing) UK PLC and on-lent to the Company. The maturity date of the swap is 31 March 2031 and the quarterly
fixed interest rate is 5.67%.

The effective interest rates ignore the effect of the interest rate and index-linked swaps set out in note 14, They also exclude
the indexation charge applicable to certain portions of the intercompany loan.

b) Liquidity risk

2024 . . Within-1 year 1-2vyears 2-5 years >S5 years Total

: fm £m £m £m £m
Assets: . , .
Cash and cash equivalents . 147.3 : - Co- - - 147.3
Trade and other receivables 644.9 1.6 - - : 646.5

792.2 1.6 - ’ - . 793.8

Liabilities: _ . )
Intercompany loan ' 561 560.2 : 624.5 2,706 3,946.8
Term loans 72.6 73.6 '175.5 174.9 496.6
Other unsecured loans 0.2 ' - - ) - .. 0.2
Finance lease obligations 49.9 : 30.4 4.0 . 92.0 176.3
Trade and other payables 627.2 15.6 46.8 678.0 1,367.6 .
Derivative financial instruments 1.8 - (0.2) 38 . 4.9 103
Future interest payable 146.2 136.2 ° 304.6 662.1 . 1,249.1

954.0 815.8 1,159.2 4,317.9 ~ 7,246.9
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~

" 15. Financing risk management (continued)

" 2-Syears

>5 years

2023 . Within 1 year - 1- 2 years " Total
: ' £m. " £m £m £m . - £m
Assets: . :
Cash'and cash equivalents 362.6 - - - 362.6
Trade and other receivables 647.2 - - - 647.2
) ’ 1,009.8° - - - 1,009.8
Liabilities:
- Cash and cash equivalents
Intercompany loan 194 19.7 ~ 11121 2,423.0 ’ 3,574.2
Term loans 44.0 71.0 ' 185.9 2294 530.3
Other unsecured loans . 0.2 - - ' - "0.2
" Lease liabilities 0.9 ~250.8 33.0 93.4 378.1
Trade and other payables 685.0 124 37.1 © 4913 1,225.8
* Derivative financial instruments 13.9 5.6 2.8 143 36.6
Future interest payable 161.4 148.2 333.9 698.8 1,342.3
924.8 507.7 1,704.8 3,950.2 7,087.5
The minimum lease payments fall due as follows: .
: ) 2024 2023
) £m £m
Gross lease liabilities
Within one year 61.5 24.0
Between two and five years - 54.6 319.5
After five years 128.5 127.4
. 244.6 .470.9
Future interest _(68.3) '(92.8)
Net lease llabllities 176.3 378.1
Net lease liabilities are repayable as follows:
Within one year {note 13) 49.9 0.9
Between two and five years 34.4 283.8
After five years - 92.0 934 -
126.4 .377.2

Total over one year (note 13)

c) Fair values

" The fair values of the Company’s derivative financial instruments are set out in note 14. The fair value of the intercompany
loan is £3,232.9 million (2023: £3,052.5 million). The fair valués of the Company’s other non-derivative financial mstruments

are equal to the book values.

d) Borrowing facilities

As at 31 March 2024 the group had available commltted borrowing facilities of £400 million, of which £320 mllhon remains

undrawn, in respect of WhICh all conditions precedents have been met (2023: £200 million).

Expiring in more than 1 year:
Revolving credit facilities

The facilities are all available for three years with a one-year extension optibn.

Page 51+ DWr Cymru Cyfyngedlg

Annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024

2023 2022

£m fm ..
400.0 - 200.0
400.0 200.0
200.0

400.0
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15. Financing risk management (continued)

At 31 March 2024 Dwr Cymru (Financing) UK PLC had a special liquidity facility of £135 million (2023: £135 million), which it
is-required to maintain in order to meet certain Group interest and other obligations that cannot be funded through operating
cashflow of the Company, inthe event of a standstill being declared by the Security Trustee. A standstill would arise in the
event that DWr Cymru Cyfyngedig defaults on its debt financing covenants. The facility is a S year evergreen facility provided
by an insurance provider. '

All of the above facilities are at floating rates of interest.
e) Capital risk management

Gearing ratio (GCA Group level) - .
' - 2024 2023

fm ' £m
Total borrowings . . o B " (4,246.4) (4,185.6)
Less: cash and cash equivalents ' 148.4 363.5
Net debt before CTA required adjustments o o (4,098.0) (3,822.1)
Unamortised bond costs - E . . (12.7) (12.2)
Swap indexation’ C -~ (434.0) (345.0)
Post year end settlements (note 18) ) : . 40.5 ) -
Net debt . ) . (4,504.2) (4,179.3)
Regulatory capital value (RCV) : ’ ) 7,475.7 7,161.3
Total capital h : i 2,971.5 2,982.0
Gearing ratio . . O 60% 58%

As set ouit on page 31, the Group monitors its capital structure based on a regulatory gearing ratio which compares its net:
debt (total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents adjusted for unamortised bond issue costs, accrued settlements on
derivative financial instruments, indexation on bonds where swaps convert the fixed rates to RPI excluding the fair value of
derivatives) to the Ofwat published RCV (Property, Plant and'Equipment revaluation is based on shadow-RCV, an internal

-measure, which reflects adjustments to RCF for under or overperformance on measures such as totex and outcome delivery
incentives). This is managed at the GCA level to ensure compliance with the terms of the CTA.

16. Provisions
Provision for

Restructuring Claims loss Other loss on swap
" provision provision provision - ~ closure . Total
’ £m : fm £m fm " £m
At 1 April 2023 : . ’ 3.1 .. 46 . 155 - 0.5 . 23.7
Charéed to income statement - 10 2.1 ’ (0.1) 3.0
Insured Losses - - - - 24 .- : - 24
Unused amounts reversed - (1.5) ' - (0.5) - (2.0)
Utilised in year - {0.8) o (1.2) - . (14.72) . - (16.5)
At 31 March 2024 1.0 6.8 . 2.4 04 10.6
Split as amounts to be utilised:
Within one year . 1.0 23 . 21 - 54
After more than one year ) : ) : 4.5 0.3 B 0.4 T 5.2

At 31 March 2024 : 1.0 6.8 2.4 0.4 ©10.6
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.

16. Provisions (continued)

Uninsured Provision for

Restructuring loss Other loss on swap
provision provision provision closure Total
£fm £m £m £fm £m
At 1 April 2022 : ' .37 43 05 . 06 .91
Charged to income statement - 1.1 15.0 ' . (0.1) 16.0
Unused amounts reversed - ’ - - - -
Utilised in year {0.6) (0.8) - C- ) (1.4)
At 31 March 2023 ) ) 3:1 4.6 15.5 . 0.5 '23.7

Split as amounts to be utilised: : ) : . :

Within one year. ) .14 14 150 . : - 17.8
After more than one year 1.7, 3.2 0.5 0.5 5.9
At 31 March 2023 3.1 4.6 15.5 .05 23.7

Restructuring provision
This provided for the cost of a reduction in the headcount of 182 to meet a challenging cost effluency target for the regulatory

- period 2020 to 2025. This forecast is reassessed each year.

For the year to 31 March 2024, £1.5 million restructuring cost was not deemed necessary due to natural attrition in the
Company redeployment of staff and was subsequently released back to the income statement in operating expenses.
Claims loss provision

This provision is in respect of claims against the Company, where claims are partly or fully covered by insurance, a
corresponding insurance receivable is recognised in other receivables. The net loss provision after deductmg an insurance
recelvable of £2.4 million {2023: nil) is £4.4 million (2023: £4.6 million).

The utilisation penod of these Ilabllmes is uncertain due to the nature of claims but is estlmated to be within five years.
Other provusuons
Other provisions are made for certain other obligations which arise during the ordlnary course of the Company s busmess

As reported in FY 23 the Group proposed a customer redress package totalling £29 million to address the restatement of the
Group’s leakage and per capita consumption performance In March 2024 Ofwat concluded their investigation into “Welsh
Water leakage performance”, accepting the proposed package. At 31 March 2023 the Group provided, under other
provisions, £15 million for customer rebates as part of this package.

Other provisions also includes £2.1 million being management’s estimate of expected fmes related to regulatory
prosecutlons

17. Share capital ) . .
- - C - 2024 . 2023
- £m £m
Authorised ,
."+ 501,050,000 (2023: 501,050,000) ordinary shares of £1 each : . 501.1 . 501.1
- Allotted and fully paid .
309,876,374 (2023 309,876,374) ordlnary shares of £1 each 309.9 309.9

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote
per share at meetings of the Company:
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18.’N9t cash flow from operating activities
"a) Cash generated from operations

Reconciliation of operating profit/(loss) to cash generated from operations: 2024 2023
K ' £m £m
" Operating profit/(loss) ) 46.0 ° © (6.7)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation . 385.6 345.6
_Changes in working capital: . ) : .
Increase in trade and other receivables ' - 0.2 ’ (56.4)
Increase in trade and other payables : : . : . (32.3) ' 51.7
Increase in inventories - . (2.6) : (1.0)
.Exceptional item — pension increases oL : Coe- . 29.6
Pension contributions above service cost . . (0.3) -
(Decrease)/increase in provisions ) ' (13.1) '14.6
- - (53.1) 38.5
Cash generated from operations ) . . 378.5 377.4

b) Interest paid

‘2023
2024 Restated
) £m £m '
Interest payable per Income Statement . ) 3594 485.2
Less non-cash items: . .
Indexation on index-linked bonds ’ ’ (204.4) (348.0)
Indexation on index-linked debt - - ' B (11.7) . (31.])
Amortisation of bond issue costs ' ' . {1.5) ’ (1.5)
Interest charge on pension scheme liabilities ' - (2:1)
Amortisation of bond issue premium ] : 0.8 ‘ 0.8
Effect of capitalisation under 1AS 23 18.6 283
Decrease/(increase) in accruals : 32.0 (2.9)
’ (166.2) (356.5).

Interest paid 193.2 128.7

¢) Derivative financial instruments settlements in the year

2023
2024 Restated
Settlements accruing on derivative financial instruments per income
Statement . . 374 (20.9)
. Less non-cash items: . . ) .
Receipts settled post year end . " {40.5) .-
(40.5) -
"Net (payments)/receipts on derivative financial instruments per cash flow

statement - ‘ A ' .31 (20.9).

The comparators for settlements accruing on derivative financial instruments have been reclassified. There is no impact on the overall net
cash outflow for the prior year. More information is available under note 1 to these financial statements. '
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19. Analysis and reconciliation of net debt |

Net debt is defined as the value of cash and cash equivalents and the intercompan'y loan less net accrued interest and total
borrowings. .

a) Net debt at the balance sheet dateAmay be analysed as: ' R 2024 . 2023 -

: ) : ’ £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents A ' : 147.3 362.6
S ) 147.3 362.6

Debt due after one year ' - {4,314.7) (4,041.1)
- Debt due within one year . ) (169.4) (63.6)
Lease liabilities : ) o (176.3) (378.1)
Accrued interest . . {22.6) (50.3)
’ : o ’ (4,683.0) (4,533.1)
Net debt : . ' (4,535.7) (4,170.5)
’ .

b) The movement in net debt during the year may be summarised as: 2024 2023

. ’ £m " fm

Net debt at sfart' of year ) (4,170.5) (3,725.4)
Movement in net cash : ' ’  {215.3) (141.1)
Movement in debt . 39.1 . 78.4
Movement in net debt arising from cash flow : . {176.2) (62.7)

. Movement in accrued interest . ) . 277 (2.7)
Indexation of index-linked debt ) {216.1) (379.0)
Other non-cash movements : . . ) Co {0.6) (0.7)
Movement in net debt during the year i . {365.2) (445.1)
Net debt at end of year ) - {(4,535.7) (4,170.5)

Non-cash movements relate to the recognition of lease liabilities under IFRS 16.

20. Employees and Directors

a) Directors’ emoluments ,
The aggregate emoluments of the Directors of DWr Cymru Cyfyngedig for their services as Directors of the Company are set
out below:

2024 ‘2023
. £000 ) £000
Salary (including benefits in kind) . 878 -1,089
Fees : . ' o . 677 605
‘ ' ) 1,555 1,694
\

Highest paid Director: P Pérry (2023: P Perry) '
Aggregate emoluments? e . C . a9 380
Accrued pension under defined benefit scheme ' - T 412

1 excluding pension accrual -

Retirement benefits are accruing for none of the Directors (2023: one) under defined benefit schemes, as one director
crystallised his pension benefits with effect from 1 August 2023. None of the Directors are a member of the defined
contribution scheme (2023: none). ’ ) '
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20. Employees and Directors (continued)

With respect to remuneration payable to the Executive Directors: ..

When reviewing Executive salaries, the Committee considered the proposed increases for the wider workforce, and
business and individual performance to date in FY 24, and the rates of the National Living Wage and Real Living

"Wage. The Remuneration Committee decided to accept the recommendation of the Executive Directors that it
- would be appropriate to award the same increase as the wider workforce. The wider workforce had an agreement

in place to award an increése in line with CPIH in December 2023. The Executive Directors were therefore awarded
a 4.2% increase. All increases were with effect from April 2024.
Under the AVPS, up to 100% of salary can be earned in any year. The overall performance achleved for FY 24 in the
Executive Directors’ AVPS was 25.77%. This compares with 41.39% in FY 23.
The AVPS scorecard outcomes, in the Committee’s view, were reflective of the performance challenges faced by
the business, and the Committee did not elect to exercise its discretion to amend these outcomes. This resulted in
total awards to the Executive Directors of:

Peter Perry: £91,364.62 (25.77% of salary) paid in July 2024.

Mike Davies: £72,412.75 (25.77% of salary) paid in July 2024.

Under the LTVPS for the period 2020 to 2025, performance is assessed annually against interim goals: Interim
payments are made up to 60% of maximum for each of.the two elements: Totex performance; and Overall ODI
outcomes for performance development measures. Overall performance is assessed over the five-year period of
the AMP. This could result in payment or recovery of any under or overpaid amounts in the final year. The LTVPS
scorecard summary did not result in payouts to the Executive Directors as the threshold levels were not reached.

(Further details are provided in the 2024 Remuneration Report Wthh forms part of GCHC’s 2024 annual report and
consolidated financial statements.) ' ’

b) Staff costs during the year

2023 2023

£m : £m

Wages and salaries ) : 163.3 156.3
Social security costs . L . 16.9 176
" Other pension costs - 13.5 11.1

193.7 185.0

Of the above, £88.0 million (2023: £79.1 million) has been capitalised or classified within infrastructure renewals
expenditure, being the investment cost of employees' work on the capital programme.

Average monthly number of people {including executive directors) . . 2024 2023

employed by the Company : . Number ~Number
Regulated water and sewerage activities . ' i 3,790 3,554

"The Board delegates certain of the Company’s strategic and operational activities to the DWwr Cymru Executive, a senior
management group comprlsmg both executive Directors and employees. Total remuneration of these key personnel was as

follows: . .
- 2024 2023
’ £fm £m
Executive Directors : : 0.9 1.1
Other key personnel ' ’ ) 3.8 3.5
4.7 4.6
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21. Pension commitments

‘The Company operates a funded defined benefit pension scheme for current employees (based'on final pensionable salary
and pensionable servrce) the DCWW Pension Scheme. The assets of the scheme are heldina separate trustee-administered
fund .

The Welsh Water Pensmn Scheme was closed to new members from 31 December 2005. A new defined contribution scheme
the Dwr Cymru Defmed Contribution Scheme was introduced from 1January 2006.

EFRBS :

Durmg 2011; the Company put arrangements in place via an Employer-Financed Retlrement Benefit Scheme (EFRBS) for four
‘capped’ Executive Members of the scheme. The accrual of benefits under this agreement is conditional on remaining a
member of the DCWW Pension Scheme. At 31 March 2024, there were two remalnmg Executlve Members with entitlements
under this arrangement, one of whom is in recelpt of his benefrts

Risks . .
Through the Scheme, the Company is exposed to numerous risks, the mast significant of which are detailed below:

_* Asset volatility:
Scheme liabilities are calculated using discount rates set with reference to bond ylelds (although discount rate methodology
differs for accounting and funding purposes). If Scheme assets deliver a return which is lower than the discount rate, this will
create or increase the Scheme deficit (all other things being equal). The Scheme holds various return seeking assets which
are expected to outperform bonds in the long-térm, albeit at the risk of short:term volatility. .

* Movement in bond yields:
A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the Scheme Ilabllmes although this will be partlally offset by an increase in
the value of the Scheme’s bond holdings.

« Inflation risk: : )
As a large majority of the members benefits are llnked to.inflation (subject to maximum annual caps) a high level of inflation
will result in an increase of benefits attributable to the members, which will in turn increase the Scheme’s liabilities.

o Life expectancy . :

The Scheme’s obligations are to provide members with benefits for the remamder of thelr lives, so an increase in life
expectancy will result in the Scheme paying members’ benefnts over a longer period, which will in turn increase the Scheme’s
liabilities. . .

Vcrgln Media Ltd v NTL Pension Trustees i Ltd & Ors

The Group is aware of the High Court ruling in the case of Virgin Media Ltd v NTL Pension Trustees Il Ltd & Orsand is waiting
for the outcome of the appeal, scheduled for 25 June 2024, and any additional hearings, as well as confirmation from the
Government as to whether it will issue new regulations in response to this issue. :

Defined benefit scheme

. A full actuarial valuation of the scheme was undertaken as at 31 March 2022 by loanne Eynon.of Quantum ‘Advisory, an
independent, professionally qualified actuary, using the projected unit method. This valuation has been updated at 31 March
2024 and the principal assumptlons made by the actuaries were:

2024 . 2023
Discount rate _ ’ : . - 4.7% - 4.6%
RPI Inflation assumption . 4 ‘ T 3% © T 33%
Rate of uncapped pension increases . B P ' . 3.1% . ©3.3%
Rate of capped pension increases - ' ' ' 3.0% 3.2%
Post retirement mortality (life expectancy): . _
- Current pensioners aged 65 - males - : : ' 86.3 years 86.8 years
- Current pensioners aged 65 - females 88.5 years 89.0 years
- Future pensioners aged 65 (currently aged 45) - males ’ 87.2 years 87.8 years
- Future pensroners aged 65-(currently aged 45) - females ’ 89.6 years 90.2 years

The mortality dlsclosures at 31 March 2024 use the CMI 2022 mortallty projection model, with a long-term trend rate of 1.0%
p.a
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

21. Pension commitments (continued)
The inflation risk premium (IRP) remains the same as the prior year at 0.4%.

Changes in the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

. 2024 2023
CEm £m
At 1 April 3974 - 504.5
Current service cost . 0.1 . 0.2
Interest expense . 179 14.0 -
Remeasurement:(gain) from change in financial assumptions (21.1) (135.7)
Benefits paid (16.4) (16.4)
Past service cost .0.0 30.8
At 31 March 377.9 397.4
Changes in the fair value plan assets are as follows: -
’ Co ' ' 2024 2023
£m £fm
At 1 April 412.1 427.5
interest income 18.6 11.7
Actuarial gains/(losses) 5.3 (11.2) -
Contributions .04 0.5
Benefits paid (16.4) (16.4)
At 31 March " 420.0 4121
Scheme assets’ 2024 2023 .
o £m £m
Cash ~40.0 9.7
Equity and Bonds . 266.6 . 287.6
Other 113.4 114.8
Total assets 420.0 412.1.

Wlth the exception of cash, assets consist of pooled investment funds which are not quoted on an active market shown by
category in the table above. Of the total, assets'with a fair value of £113.4 mnlllon (2023: £114.8 million) are Level 3 financial
assets; these are considered to be the least liquid and hardest to value, and are therefore subject to a higher degree of -
estimation. See also the critical accounting estimates in note 1. Experience gains and losses are differences between the
" actual events as they have turned out and the assumptions that they were made as at the date of the earlier actuarial

valuation and changes in the actuarial assumptlon during the year.

Equity and Bonds assets are stated net of £5.6 million of derivative financial instruments (2023 £11.0 mllllon) Cash assets '

include £0.1 million of derivative financial instruments (2023: £0.5 million).

Charges to the income statement and other comprehensive income are as follows:

Income statement:

Service costs .

‘Net interest (income)/costs S I
Exceptional pension increases

Total {credited)/charged to the income statement '

. Other comprehensive income:
Actuarial gain/(loss) on plan assets
_ Actuarial gain on defined benefit obligation

Total credited to the statement of comprehensive income

2024 2023
£m £m
0.1 02

(0.7) 2.2

- 30.8

(0.6) 33.2
5.3 (11.2)

S211 135.7
26.4 124.5 -
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

21. Pension commitments (continued) -

In the year to 31 March 2023 a past service cost of £30.8 million was recognised representing the award of pension increases
undér the ‘best endeavours’ clause in the pension scheme rules where full RPI increases are awarded if certain criteria are
met. This was recognised as an exceptional item as our defined benefit liability at 31 March 2023 provided for future pension
increases above the 5% ‘best endeavours’ clause cap. Any movement in estimate in the year ended 31 March 2024 and in
future periods is presented as Other Comprehensive Income as required under IAS 19. Further mformatron on the recognition
of the exceptlonal item is available in'note 3 on page 37. .

2024 - 2023

£m Em

Present value of funded obligations s (377.9) . (397.4)
Fair value of plan assets . - 420.0 . 4121
' - : 421, 14.7

Deferred tax liability allocated to pension scheme : {10.5) : -
Defined benefit asset recognised in the balance sheet : 31.6 14.7
EFRBS unfunded liability ) : ' {2.6) (2.7)
_Net defined benefit asset recognised in the balance sheet : ' 29.0 12.0

The difference between the two amounts is recognised as a surplus or obligation in the statement of financial position. Where
this difference results in a defined benefit surplus, this is recognised in accordance with IFRIC 14 ‘1AS 19 — The Limit on a
Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction’, on the basis that the Company has an
unconditional right to any excess funds that may exist following the closure of the pension scheme once all members have
left the plan and their benefits have been settled. :

There were no special contributions paid in the year to 31 March 2024 (2023: £none).

Change increase in

in assumption liabilities

o | g
Discount rate’ . _ 0.10%" ‘5.0
Price inflation A ’ 0.10% 48

Life expectancy ’ 1 year 9.0

The above sensitivity analysis is based on isolated changes in each assumption while holding all other assumption constant.
In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and there is likely to be some level of correlation between the movements in different
assumptions.

Effect on future cash flows
The level of contributions is reviewed at each triennial valuation. The latest of which was 31 March2022.

Under the current Schedule of Contributions no deficit recovery contributions are expected to be paid for the year-ending
31 March 2025. Future service contributions (consisting of amounts payable by.members and the Company) will be in the
region of £0 1 million.

The duration of the Scheme's liabilities is approximately 13 years.

Regulatory framework .
The Scheme is funded and governed in line wuth the requirements of the Pensions Regulator We have not made any
allowance for any minimum funding requirements under [FRIC14.

‘The Scheme operates under trust law and the corporate trustee (Welsh Water Pension Trustee Limited) is responsible for its
day-to-day governance. The Trustee Directors are assisted in the management of the Scheme by experlenced professionals
such as actuaries, admmnstrators and investment consultants

21. Pension commitments (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

"The Trustees have put in place a diversified investment strategy which aims to meet the liabilities of the Scheme. Details are
. setout in the Scheme’s Statément of Investment Principles. Day-to-day decisions around asset selection have been delegated
to BlackRock as their fiduciary investment manager.

High inflation

For most Scheme Sections, pensions in payment (and in some instances deferred benefits) are |ncreased on 1 April each year
by the Retail Prices Index (“RP1”) as measured over the relevant period, being the annual change in RPI announced for the
previous September, December or January. .

As a result of high levels of inflation, many Scheme sections received a full RPI increase in April 2023 via a ‘best endeavours’
rule (broadly a pension increase cap that is waived if the Scheme can afford to pay higher increases without requiring
Company contributions). The Trustee and Group also agreed to provide an 3% discretionary pension increase, on top.of the
capped increase of 5% to Scheme sections that have a cap and are not subject the best endeavours rule.

22. Lessor :
2024 2023
Operating lease £m £m
Lease income- waste facility sites to Welsh Water Organic Waste Limited 0.1 0.1

The Company leases land to Cardiff Council, currently the site of a composting facility which is operated by a fellow Group
company, Welsh Water Organic Energy Limited, providing food and green waste services. The Company has classified this
lease as an operating lease because it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
the land. The lease payments are index-linked to RPI.. ' ’

The remaining term of the lease is 8 years, with the total undiscounted current minimum lease receipts amounting to £0.8m.

23. Capital and other financial commitments

The Company’s business plan at 31 March 2024 shows net capital expenditure and infrastructure renewals expenditure of
£511 million (2023: £423 million) during the next financial year. While only a portion of this amount has been formally
contracted for, the Company is effectively committed to a majority of the total as part of the capital investment programme
approved by its regulator, Ofwat.

24. Related party transactions
Remunération to key management personnel has been disclosed in note 20.

Intercompany interest payable to Dwr Cymru (Financing) UK plc (DCF), another member of the GCHC group, was
£181,419,455 during the year (2023: £223,724,205). As at 31 March 2024 the balance outstanding on the intercompany loan
and accrued interest from DCF stood at £3,514,537,286 (2023: £3,226,711,324). All borrowings raised by DCF are immediately
. on-lent to the company on an arms-length basis. The intercompany loan is subject to the terms and conditions of the whole
business securitisation structure of Glas Cymru Anghyfyngedig and its subsidiaries. DCC, in its capacity as debtor, repays such
principal and interest as is due on each borrowing on the due date plus 0.01%. intercompany loans from Glas Cymru
Anghyfyngedig of £1,970,694 (2023: £1,970,694) and from DWr Cymru Holdings Limited of £2,812,458 (2023: £2,812,458)
remain outstanding as at 31 March 2024. Interest payable on these loans has been waived.

As at 31 March 2024 intercompany trading balances owing to the Company were: Welsh Water Infrastructure Limited £nil
(2023: £3,560), Welsh Water Organic Energy (Cardiff) Limited £3;647,719 {2023: £2,098,786), Welsh ‘Water Organic Energy
Limited £36,000 (2023: £13,655), Cambrian Limited £25,419 (2023: £25,419), Glas Cymru Anghyfyngedig £8,481 (2023:
£8,481), Glas Cymru Holdings Limited £33,063 (2023: E74,290) and Welsh Water Organic Waste £123,397 (2023: £480,661).

Durlng the year no d|V|dends were paid or received (2023: £nil). There were no other transactions with companies that are
part of the GCHC Group. :
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25. Contingent liabilities

-+ Contingent habllmes represent potenttal future cash outflows whnch are either possnble but not probable or probable but

cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

The Company is- subject to’ ongomg mvest|gat|ons (pollution, water quality and compliance} by environmental regulators

which could result in a financial outflow, however the potential impact cannot be quantified at this stage.

26. Elan Valley Trust Fund

.In 1984 DWr. Cymru Authority entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement with Severn Trent Water Authonty for

the sale of the aqueduct and associated works by which the bulk supply to Severn Trent reservoirs is conveyed

.

The sum of £31.7 million, representlng the consideration for the conditional sale, wasmv_ested ina trust fund. The principal

function of the fund-was to provide ari income to DWr Cymru Authority, whilst preserving the capital value of the fund in real
terms. DWr Cymru Authority’s mterest in this'fund was vested in DWr Cymru Cyfyngedlg under the provisions of the Water
Act 1989

. ;
.The assets of the fund are not included in these financial statements. As at 31 March 2024 the market value of the trust fund

was £89.0 million (2023: £90.0 mllllon) Interest receivable includes £3.8 million (2023: £3.5 million) in respect of distributions.
from the Elan Valley Trust Fund. .

27. immediate and oltimate holding company =~ |

- The immediate parent Company ie Dwr Cymru (Holdings) Linﬁted and the ultimate holding Company and controlling oarty is

Glas Cymru Holdings Cyfyngedig, both of which are registered in England and Wales. The largest and smallest group within
which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by Glas Cymru Holdings Cyfyngedig and Glas Cymru
Anghyfyngedig (subsidiary of Glas Cymru Holdings Cyfyngedig and parent company of the entities governed by the Common
Terms Agreemeént (CTA)) respectively. Both consolidated financial statements can be obtalned from the’ Compa ny Secretary

. atLinea, Fortran Road, St Mellons, Cardrff CF3 OLT.
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GLOSSARY

AMP6

AMPS6 ran from 2015-2021. AMP7 will run from 2021-2025.

Anaerobic digestion

A process by which organic material i is broken down by bacteria and other micro-organisms-
to generate renewable energy.

Assets These include infrastructure such as water mains and sewers, dams and reservoirs, water
and sewage treatment works, pumping statlons company Iaboratones depots and
workshops. -

AVPS - Annual Variable Pay Scheme — a performance-related element of emoluments

Bacteriological failures

The drinking water supplied to customers is sampled and analysed against a range of
chemical and bacteriological parameters. If a sample shows a bacteriological parameter that -
exceeds the limit specified in the regulations, it is deemed a bacteriological failure.

Catchment

. An area of land through which water drains into a body of water (such as a river or
. reservoir). -

‘ Combined sewer

Combined sewer for sewage and rain water runoff.

CsO

Combined Sewer Overflows act as relief valves which prevent the overloading of sewers
which could otherwise lead to flooding of properties and sewage treatment works. -

Company limited by i:arantee

A private company that does not have shareholders or share capital.

CPNI Centre for the Protection of National Infrastructure.
CCWater Consumer Council for Water. »
C-MeX The customer measure of experience (C-MeX) is a measure of customer satisfaction. A

company’s C-MeX score is calculated as the weighted average of customer satisfaction
(CSAT) scores from customer service (CS) and customer experience (CE) surveys.

Credit rating

Credit ratings provide an assessment of the credit quality of a company which can affect the
cost of borrowing.

Customer Reserves

Customer Reserves is the difference between the RCV and net debt and is therefore a
measure of the value created by the business for customers. Some of that value can be
used for investment in the business and rebates to customers. We aim te maintain net debt
at around 60% of the RCV with retained Customer.Reserves as the remaining 40%.

Diécharge permits

Legal agreements issued by the environmental regulator relating to the amount, quality and
frequency of wastewater that can be retumed to the environment.

DwI

Drinking Water Inspectorate.

Drinking Water Safety Plan .

A proactive method of assessmg risk to drinking water quality, which better protects public
health.

Drought Plan

Statutory plan produced by a water company that details the actions to be taken to manage

" the supply of waterin a drought

Effluent

Water that flows from a sewage treatment plant after it has been treated.

Environment Agency (EA)

An executive, non-departmental Government body that has a statutory duty to protect and
enhance the environment in England.

Financeability

The ability of.appointed water companies to finance their functions through debt equity or
retained earnings. .

Gearing . Net debt expressed as a J:)ercentage of Regulatory Capital Value.

Glas Cymru Glas Cymru is the generic name used to refer to the Group holding company. Glas Cymru
Cyfyngedig was formed in 2000 to own, finance, and manage Dwr Cymru Welsh Water.
During 2015-16 Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig was reregistered as Glas Cymru Anghyfyngedig
‘and Glas Cymru Holdings Cyfyngedig was created to be the holding company for the Glas
Cymru Group.

Groundwater Water that can be found in the saturated zone of the sail.

Group Glas Cymru and all its subsidiaries. ) b

ICT information and communications téchnology.

IEAP -Independent Environmental Advisory Panel is an advisory panel to Welsh Water, consisting
‘of representatives from front-line environmental orgamsatlons in Wales and England, and

E leading academics in specnallst areas.

Leakage Water lost betweeén the treatment works and the customer's home or business.

Let's Stop the Block

Behavioural change campaign being undertaken by Welsh Water which asks customers to
help reduce the number of sewer blockages.
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The availability of readily convertible assets into cash. This represents cash and cash

Liquidity
i equivalents and revolving credit facilities for the Group.
LVPS Long-term Variable Pay Scheme. A performance-related element of emoluments.

‘Look-up’ Compliance

~ Where a wastewater treatment works fails to meet the consented parameters set by the

NRW or EA for less than 95% of the time.

Mean Zonal Compliance (MZC)

Mean Zonal Compliance is a measure of,compliance in all the water quality zones for 39
key chemical and bacteriological parameters-derived from the statutory monitoring
programme of samples taken from customers’ taps.

Megalitres (ML)

One megalitre is equal to 1,000 cubic metres or one million litres. A standard Olympic-size
swimming pool contains 2.5 megalitrés of water.

Natural Resources Wales (NRW)

Welsh Government sponsored body whose purpose it is to ensure that the natural
resources of Wales are sustainably maintained, enhanced and used.

Net debt

As ber definition in the Common Terms Agreement, total borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents adjusted for unamortised bond issue costs, accrued settlements on derivative
financial instruments, indexation on bonds where swaps convert the fixed rates to RPI less
cash held outside the Glas Cymru Anghyfyngedig Group. Net debt excludes the fair value
of derivatives.

Non-Executive Directors

Members of Glas Cymru's Board. Non-Executive Directors are not responsible for the day-
to-day running but challenge management and oversee the running of the Group. See page
63 of the Group Annual Report and Accounts for further details of their role.

oDl Outcome Delivery Incentive — This is the mechanism for rewards and penalties which
underpins the performance measures set out in our Final Determmahon Ofwat PR14 and
. PR19 business plans.
Ofwat ‘The economic regulator of the water sector in England and Wales.

Operating costs

Total operating expenditure of the business, net of any operating income, primarily any
profits or losses on the disposal of fixed assets.

Pollution Incidents

An accidental or deliberate release of contaminants such as oils, fuels and chemicals that
can be harmful to human heaith and the environment.

PR19 Ofwat's Price Review process 2019, the five-year regulatory price-setting prices for AMP7
: ‘ (2021-2025), culminating in the Final Determination of prices issued to companies in
December 2019. .
PR24 Ofwat's forthcoming Price Review process 2024, which will culminate in a Determination in

December 2024, to set prices for AMP8 (2025-2030).

Pumbing station

Used to pump water or sewerage from one place to.another.

Quality and Environment Committee

Board-level Committee in Glas Cymru which addresses performance and operational risk

(QEC) issues across the Company.

RainScape™ ‘Glas Cymru's approach to managlng surface water and overloaded sewers (sustainable
urban drainage systems).

Real terms The change in a financial number after removing the effect of inflation.

Regulatory Capital Value (RCV)

The asset value of DWr Cymru, determined by Ofwat, on which our investment returns (or
Regulatory Returns) is allowed to be made. This is, in effect, a proxy for the economic value
in use of the appointed business of Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig.

Reservoir

A natural or artificial lake where water is collected and stored until needed.

Return of Value

Payments made for the benefit of our customers from distributable profits, that could )
otherwise be paid out to shareholders as dividends in a shareholder-owned company.

Rising main

A pumped pipeline that carries wastewater.

Scorecard

A statistical record used by Welsh Water to measure achievement or progress towards a
particular goal. .

Security and Emergency Measures

Directive (SEMD)

Issued by Welsh Government and DEFRA to the water sector to provide guidance on how
to respond to major incidents.

Service Incentive Mechanism (SIM)

An Ofwat measure designed to improve the level of customer service that water companies
provide.

Service reservoir

" A tank containing drinking water that is usually sited within or near to a water distribution

system.

Serviceability

The capability of a system of assets to deliver an expected level of service to consumers
and to the environment now and into the future.
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Sewer

"An underground pipe that takes household and non-household wastewater and surface

water away from properties for treatment and disposal.

Sewer flooding

Occurs when wastewater escapes from sewer pipes through a manhole cover or a drain, or
by backing up through toilets.

Safety Takes Every Person (STEP)

Behavioural safety training which emphaSIses that each individual has responsnblhty for
Health and Safety issues.

SSssli

Site of Special Scientific Interest

Storm tank

A tank into which, in wet weather, stormwater and wastewater is stored until the wastewater
treatment works can treat it.

Surface water

Run-off from rainwater that falls onto customers' properties (such as roofs, paths and
driveways). .

Surface water drainage

The removal of rainwater, snow or melted'ice from exterior areas of a property (such as
roofs and driveways) often to a surface water sewer or combined sewer.

Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDS)

A sustainable drainage system is designed to reduce the potential impact of new and
existing developments with respect to surface water drainage discharges.

Totex An Ofwat abbreviation for total expenditure. The total sum of capital expenditure and

. operational expenditure.

Trunk main A main through which water is fed into a water distribution system. A trunk main will often

. ' run from a water treatment works to a service reservoir. :

UKRI UK Research and Innovation, a research funding body worklng combining 7 former
Research Councils )

UKWIR UK Water Industry Research, a body set up by the water industry to support research and
shape the industry's research agenda.

Wastewater

Waste matter from household or non-household properties that is carried away from
properties in sewers or drains. :

Wastewater treatment works

(WWTW)

Wastewater treatment works are designed to remove biological or chemical waste products
from water before it is returned to water sources.

Water main

A large pipe that carries treated water to households.

‘Water Resource Management Plan
{(WRMP)

This outlines how a water company will maintain a sustainable balance between water
supplies and demand over the next 25 years.

Water treatment works '(WTW)

Water treatment plants produce drinking water for public consumption or industrial water for
manufacturing or other business operations.

Zonal Studies

Water network improvement programmes to reduce interruptions and increase customer .
acceptability of water.
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MEASURES OF SUCCESS: DEFINITIONS

Ala

Safety of Drinking Water
(% compliance)

Provide safe drinking water that meets the Drinking Water Inspéctorate's standards.
The percentage of the sample tests that are compliant with the standards. We take
over 250,000 sample tests per year at our water treatment works, service reservoirs
and at customer taps.

A1b

Safety of Drinking Water
(Mean Zonal Compliance)

 Mean Zonal Compliance is published annually in the Drinking Water Inspectorate

(DWI) report. The MZC covers 39 different parameters such as iron, lead and
aluminium, which are tested to establish the quality of water as received by
customers. MZC is calculated as the average of the compliance levels for each
parameter in each of our 87 water quality zones, which range in size from 27
population to almost 100,000 population. (The maximum allowable population in any
one water quality zone is 100,000 allowable within the DWI regulations).

Customer acceptability

The number of contacts received from customers in the year regarding the
appearance, taste or odour of drinking water, expressed as a rate per 1,000
customers. )

A3

_ Reliability of Supply

The average number of minutes that customers are without water within our supply
area (mcludes both planned and unplanned interruptions).

B1

Abstraction for water for use

The percentage comphance with our abstraction licences, as issued by Regulators

B2

Treating wastewater

For each of our wastewater treatment works there is a permit which regulates the
quality of wastewater the company is allowed to discharge into rivers and coastal
waters, which is regulated by the NRW. The measure is the percentage compliance
against the discharge permits.

B3a

Preventing pollutions
(cat1,283)

The measure is the number of incidents and the target is to reduce the number of
pollution incidents (caused by blockages or collapsed sewers).

Pollution incidents are categorised as category 1, 2 or 3 incident and reported by
Natural Resources Wales and the Environment Agency.

Category 1 — the most severe and has a maijor or serious impact on the
enwronment people or property.

Category 2 — significant impact or effect on the envnronment people or property.
Category 3 — minor or minimal impact on the environment, people or property. -

B3b

Preventing pollutions

(cat 3 only)

As above but only category 3 pollution incidents (minor or minimal impact on the
environment, people or property).

c1

Responding to climate ohange

Reduce the amount of rainwater entering our sewers. .
The measure is the volume of surface water removed from the system expressed as
the number of equivalent properties.

c2

Carbon footprint

To generate more renewable energy and therefore to offset our carbon emissions
and the cost of imported energy (GWh hours per year).

D1

SIm

Service incentive mechanism (SIM) is a measure introduced by the Regulator Ofwat
to monitor and report customer service information across all water and wastewater
companies as a comparative measure. . :

For AMP7, Ofwat has replaced SIM with C-MeX.

D2

At Risk Customer Service

The number of customers who are on our register of “at risk”. They are deemed to be
“at risk” because their service has repeatedly fallen short in one of the following five
areas: discolouration of water, interruptions to supply, Iow pressure, odour from
wastewater assets and sewer flooding.

D3

Properties flooded in the year

The number of propertles suffering internal sewer flooding per year.

D4a

Business Customer Satisfaction

Business customer satisfaction as measured by either satlsf ed or very satisfied in
the six-monthly survey undertaken. :

D4b

‘Non Household Customer

Satisfaction

Business customer satisfaction as measured by the average customer score out of a
total of 5§ then converted to a percentage.

D5

Earning the Trust of Customers

Customer trust as measured in an annual survey we undertake.

E1

Affordable Bills

The Company will continue to make bills more affordable by maintaining falling bills
in real terms, beating inflation by around 1% a year.

E2

Help for Disadvantaged .
Customers

‘The number of customers receiving assistance - the target is to help more customers

who genuinely struggle to pay their bills by providing assistance through a range of
social tariffs and our Customer Assnstance Fund.
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F1

Asset Serviceability

Maintain our assets. Serviceability includes a basket of sub-measures used by Ofwat
to monitor the effectiveness of our asset management and the maintenance of our

. assets.

F2

Leakage

Reduce our leakage Ievels — megalitres per day (MI/d)

F3

Asset Resilience

Improve the resilience score of our most strategic assets.

Improve the percentage of strategic assets that are resilient against a set of criteria.
Strategic assets are those where failure would have a major impact on service to
customers or on the environment.

G1

RIDDOR Incidents

The total number of injuries reported each year to the Health and Safety Executive
under the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations
2013 (RIDDOR). .

It includes injuries that occur across the wholesale and retall busnnesses as well as
those involving our main contractors and capital partners.

G2

" Competence in Role

We have a "Progression in Role” framework and have established clear role prof iles
that define key criteria which we use to measure individuals' knowledge, skills and
competence to undertake their respective roles.

Our objective is that by 2021 (and ongoing beyond that) 95% of the outlined key roles
will be deemed competent (with the remainder being new starters in training).

H1

Financing Efficiency (credit rating)

The rating ascribed by the.three main rating agencies: S&P, Moody's and.Fitch.
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" PR19 PERFORMANCE COMMITMENTS DEFINITIONS

Wt1 .

Water quality compliance (CRI)

A CRI score is calculated for every individual compliance failure at water supply
zones, supply points and treatment works, and service reservoirs. The annual CRI for
a company, for any given calendar year, is the sum of the individual CRI'scores for
every compliance failure reported during the year. ‘

wt2

Water Supply Interruptions

The average number of minutes that customers are without water wnthm our supply
area (includes both planned and unplanned interruptions). )

It is calculated as the average number of minutes iost per customer for the whole
customer base for interruptions that lasted three hours or more.

wt3

Acceptability of drinking water

The number of times the company is contacted by consumers due to the taste and
odour of drinking water, or due to.drinking water not being clear, reported per 1,000

-population. -

Wts

-Unplanned outage %

This measure is a means of assessing asset heaith (primarily for non-infrastructure — -

above ground assets), for water abstraction and water treatment activities. Itis -
defined as the annualised unavailable flow, based on the peak week production

-capacity. This measure is proportionate to both the frequency of asset failure as well

as the criticality and scale of the assets that are causing an outage.

wis

. Lead pipes replaced

This measure records the reduction in the number of lead pipes in our water supply

- network.

En1

Treatment works compliance %

For our water and wastewater treatment works there is a perrmt which regulates the.
quality of wastewater the Company is allowed to discharge into rivers and coastal
waters, which is regulated by Natural Resources Wales. The measure is the % -
compliance against the discharge permits.

En3 .

Pollution incidents
(Per 10,000km of sewer)

- Reduce the number of pollution incidents (caused by blockages or collapsed

sewers). Pollution incidents are categorised as category’

1, 2 or 3 incident and reported by Natural Resources Wales and the Enwronment
Agency.

Category 1 - the most severe and have a major or serious impact on the
environment, people or property.

Category 2 - significant impact or effect on the environment, people or property.
Category 3 - minor or minimal impact on the environment, people or property.

En4

~ Leakage (% reduction)

— 3-year average

Reduce our leakage levels — The percentage reduction of three-year average
leakage in megalitres per day (Ml/d) from the 2019-20 starting baseline.

En5

Per Capita Consumption (%

" reduction) — 3-year average

Reduce our per capita consumption (PCC) - Annual average PCC is defined as the
sum of measured household consumption and unmeasured househaéld consumption

divided by the total household population. This measure is reported as a % reduction .

of our three-year average PCC.

Sv‘t ‘

C-MeX

C-MeX is a customer measure of experience and customer satisfaction. It comprises
two survey elements:

1. Customer Experience Survey a customer satisfaction survey.among a random
sample of the water company’s customers; and '

2. Customer Service Survey — a customer satisfaction. survey-among a random
sample of those customers who have contacted their water company.

The scores of each of the two surveys are welghted equally to produce the combined

‘C-MeX measure.

Sv2

D-MeX . Y

" D-MeX is a measure of customer satisfaction for developer services.

A D-MeX score is calculated from two components that contribute equally:’

e qualitative D-MeX score, based on the ratings provided by developer
services customers who transacted with the company throughout the
reporting year to a customer satisfaction survey; and =~

. quantitative D-MeX score, based on the company’s performance against a
set of selected Water UK performance metrics throughout the reporting
year.

Sv4

Business customer satisfaction

This performance commitment measures the average customer score out of f ive from

four quarterly business customer satisfaction surveys.
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e

The Company will undertake a survey of 250 business customers per quarter (1,000
in total per year). It will survey a sample from all customers, not just those who have
contacted the company. :

_Priority Services for Customers in

We provide special assistance to those customers in vulnerable circumstances ‘who

Sv5
' Vulnerable Circumstance .are registered on our Priority Services Register (PSR).
: This measure reports on the number of households on the Cdmpany‘s PSR as a
" proportion of all households in the Company's region.
Rt1 Internal sewer flooding The measure is calculatéd as the number of internal sewer flooding incidents
(per 10, 000 sewer connectlons) normalised per 10,000 sewer connections, including sewer flooding due to severe
weather events. :
Rt3 Sewer collapses (per 1,000 km (A sewer collapse is where a structural failure has occurred to the plpe that results in
of sewers) ‘ : a service |mpact to a customer or the environment and where actlon is taken to
' replace or repair the. pipe to reinstate normal service. :
This is reported as the number of sewer collapses per 1,000 kilometres of all sewers"
causing an impact on service to customers or the environment.
Rt4 Total Complaints The total complaints by household customers received by the Company per 10,000 -
) . connections. It includes the combined total of unwanted contacts (i.e. telephone
complaints), written complaints (letter and email), and contacts via new contact
‘channels (such as social media or web chat). :
B2  Vulnerable customers on The number. of residential customers receiving financial support via our social tariffs.
social tariffs ) . ' : a ) ,
Bi3 Company level of bad debt The Company level of bad debt is a measure of the total unpaid water and
T . wastewater bills that are deemed uncollectable as a proportlon of the total revenue
) ) billed in each reporting year.
" En6 KM of river improved The cumulative length of river improved as a result of the companys actions to
- improve the health and aesthetics of rivers.
Ft10 ' Community Education The total number of children and adults who have participated in the company s
) education programme each year.
Ft11  Visitors to recreational facnlltles The total number of visitors to the company's recreational sites each year.

Co1

Reportable i |njur|es

The number of individual i injuries reported to the Health and Safety Executive under
RIDDOR per annum. :
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